332.08 P957s no. 1 1961 c.3



Γ	Special Papers of International Formation
	No. 1 Juny 1061
	NO. 1, JULI 1901
-	
	A SURVEY
	OF
	INTERNATIONAL
-	
	TRADE THEORY
	COTTERIED HARERIER
	GOTTFRIED HADERLER
	Revised and Enlarged Edition
-	
	INTERNATIONAL FINANCE SECTION
	DEPARTMENT OF ECONOMICS
	PRINCETON UNIVERSITY • 1961

This is a revised and enlarged edition of the first number in the series of SPECIAL PAPERS IN INTERNATIONAL ECONOMICS. The first edition was published in September 1955.

<sup>'</sup> The author, Gottfried Haberler, is Galen L. Stone Professor of International Trade at Harvard University. Among his publications are: THE THEORY OF INTERNATIONAL TRADE, PROSPERITY AND DEPRESSION, and QUANTITATIVE TRADE CONTROLS: THEIR CAUSES AND NATURE.

The Section sponsors papers in its series but takes no further responsibility for the opinions expressed in them. The writers are free to develop their topics as they will. Their ideas may or may not be shared by the editorial committee of the Section or the members of the Department.

The submission of manuscripts for this series is welcome.

FRITZ MACHLUP, Director International Finance Section Special Papers in International Economics No. 1, July 1961

# A SURVEY OF INTERNATIONAL TRADE THEORY

GOTTFRIED HABERLER

Revised and Enlarged Edition

INTERNATIONAL FINANCE SECTION DEPARTMENT OF ECONOMICS PRINCETON UNIVERSITY • 1961



#### PREFACE TO THE 1961 EDITION

The first edition of this Survey appeared in 1955. It was an enlarged and improved version of an article written in 1952 in German which had appeared in 1954 in Volume I of the *Handwörterbuch der Sozialwissenschaften* (Gustav Fischer, Stuttgart; J.C.B. Mohr [Paul Siebeck], Tübingen; Vandenhock & Ruprecht, Göttingen). I was very grateful to the International Finance Section of the Department of Economics and Sociology of Princeton for suggesting that this article be translated and then published by them. Thanks are also due to the German publishers of the *Handwörterbuch* for generously granting permission to publish the paper in English. The new edition has been thoroughly revised and substantially enlarged.

This paper is an attempt to present in a short space an up-to-date survey of international trade theory, including a short sketch of the monetary theory of the balance-of-payments mechanism. The Survey is confined to a presentation of the theoretical skeleton, with a bare minimum of institutional details and no facts or figures. It is, furthermore, a summary in words, without the aid of mathematics.

The source citations in the body of this Survey have been kept to a minimum, but a selected bibliography has been appended. This is not intended to be exhaustive. Rather, it is designed to include only those items which seem to be of the greatest importance in the development of the particular aspects of the theory discussed here.

The bibliography is divided into sections comparable to sections of the Survey. However, many publications have dealt with several aspects of the matters considered in this Survey and so do not fit neatly into any one section. In such cases, they have been included in Section 1 of the bibliography.

In the new edition, the bibliography has been revised and brought up to date with the help of John Brandl. Section VI has been added containing literature on the Theory of International Trade Policy. Unavoidably, there is considerable overlapping between Section III and Section VI.

G. H.

Cambridge, Massachusetts April 1961 Digitized by the Internet Archive in 2011 with funding from LYRASIS Members and Sloan Foundation

http://www.archive.org/details/surveyofinternat00habe

### CONTENTS

.

CHAPTER	PAGE
I Introduction	1
II The Classical Theory of Comparative Costs and International Values—from Hume to Marshall	6
III Modern Developments of the Pure Theory	12
IV The Terms of Trade	24
V The Balance of Payments Mechanism	30
1. The Balance of Payments and National Income	30
2. Price and Income Effects in the Mechanism	33
3. The Foreign Trade Multiplier	41
4. The Purchasing Power Parity Theory of Foreign Exchanges	45
VI The Theory of International Trade Policy	52
Selected Bibliography	59

## I. Introduction

International economic transactions are defined as economic transactions, including financial transactions and capital movements, among independent countries or states. Foreign or international trade, on the other hand, is defined to mean the exchange among such states of goods and services only. Although the definitions—when framed in this manner—are not stated in purely economic terms and are encumbered by the vagueness of the concept "country" or "state," this need not concern the economist unduly; for we do have a fairly clear notion, at least with respect to recent times, of what is meant by independent "states."

There has been and continues to be much discussion in the economic literature regarding the manner in which foreign trade differs from domestic trade and whether a separate theory of international trade is possible or necessary. Why can we not simply make use of the general theory of production, prices, money, employment, etc., when dealing with foreign trade problems?

Strictly speaking, it is neither possible nor essential to draw a sharp distinction between the problems of foreign and domestic trade.<sup>1</sup> If we examine the alleged peculiarities of foreign trade, we find that we are dealing with differences in degree rather than with such basic differences of a qualitative nature as would warrant sharp theoretical divisions.

The classical economists regarded the international immobility of the factors of production as the most important distinguishing characteristic of international trade. Obviously, this fact alone does not really present us with any sharp distinctions. In the first place, complete mobility of the factors of production frequently does not exist in the domestic sphere either. Secondly, considerable movements of capital and labor often occur across national boundaries. As a matter of fact, both of these situations were recognized by the classical writers, especially by John

<sup>1</sup> In terms of the labor theory of value, however, it is necessary to make such a distinction inasmuch as the prerequisites of this theory, occupational and geographical mobility, clearly do not exist at the international level.

In the course of development of the theory, the artificial separation of international trade theory and the general theory of value and price, of the "theory of international values" and of "domestic values," has gradually disappeared and the theory of international trade has become a part of general theory as applied to international problems. Historically, in that process of assimilation of international trade theory in the body of general theory, the theory of international trade has often been the pioneer and inventor of new analytical tools which later were used for general theoretical purposes. This was especially true in the earlier phases when progress in general theory was still hampered by adherence to tenets of the labor theory of value. In the international sphere the labor theory could not be applied. This explains why the theory of comparative cost has stood up much better than other parts of the old classical theory. Stuart Mill and Bastable. From this it was then inferred, on the one hand, that where immobility of the factors of production existed *within* a country (Cairnes' "non-competing groups") the theory of international trade would be applicable, and, on the other, where there was capital and labor mobility at the international level, a separate theory of international trade would be superfluous.

It must be recognized, however, that particularly since 1914 national immobility of capital and labor has increased markedly as compared with the second half of the 19th century. This development carries with it considerable economic significance. It is therefore not surprising that even modern writers who are not steeped in the classical tradition repeatedly emphasize this immobility and cite it, for example, as one explanation for the fact that the adjustment process in the balance of payments often functions less smoothly at the international than at the interregional level.

The second most frequently cited distinguishing characteristic of foreign trade is the existence of independent monetary systems. Differences in currency systems usually do coincide with political boundaries, but here too we are often merely dealing with differences in degree. The existence of such independent currency systems may in itself be of varying significance. Under the gold standard, for example, the existence of different currency units is no more than an unimportant technical detail. But variations in currencies which result in independent and different monetary and credit policies and so influence the international movement of capital are of great significance.

A third characteristic often mentioned is the fact that the existence of political boundaries carries with it controls and regulations of international trade and payments, in the form of customs duties, quotas, exchange control, foreign trade monopolies, the more subtle measures of control referred to as "administrative protectionism," and so forth, which do not generally exist in the domestic trade area.

The importance of this factor is obvious, but it is clear that this too does not contribute more than a difference in degree, because on the one hand international trade is sometimes free, and on the other hand there often exist restrictions, though usually milder ones, on trade between regions of the same country.

Fourthly, many authors see the existence of greater geographical distances and the resulting increases in transport costs as the distinguishing characteristic of international trade. Quite clearly, this too is at best only a difference in degree. The implications of geographic distance and transportation cost have not been entirely neglected by international trade theory, but they have been more systematically explored by location theory. The logical relation between trade theory and location theory will be briefly discussed below. (See p. 4.) The theory of international trade deals with the consequences of all of these alleged differentiating factors. It is therefore not necessary to concern ourselves, especially in a short account such as this, with the question as to which of the enumerated factors is the "essential" distinguishing characteristic of foreign trade.

International trade theory has never been satisfied merely with explaining, but has always aimed at *evaluation* and policy recommendation. Quite frequently concern with problems of economic policy has given rise to innovation and improvement in the theory itself.

Pre-classical writers, particularly the mercantilists, were strongly policy oriented. Classical theory not only served to explain the trade taking place but at the same time also provided the economic justification for free trade ideas. The newer "neo-classical" theory also generally leaned toward the free trade side, but as time went on more and more exceptions to the free trade rules were recognized so that by now, for many theorists, the position of "rules" and "exceptions" seems to be reversed.

A clear separation of explanation and evaluation, of theory and policy recommendation, frequently has been demanded and attempted. Typical of this trend is Ohlin's criticism of the classical theory on the ground that it intermingles in an unacceptable manner "normative considerations" and "objective analysis." That his demand for not just a clear distinction between political evaluation and theoretical explanation, but for actual separation of these two areas by putting them into separate books or chapters, is easier postulated than accomplished is demonstrated by Ohlin himself. Thus, in an early passage of his celebrated treatise,<sup>2</sup> in the midst of "objective theory," he proves in typical classical manner that interregional trade and division of labor results in an increased social product without making it clear that this statement implies a value judgment on his part and is not merely "objective analysis."<sup>3</sup>

The right attitude, I submit, is that one need not shy away from the application of theory to problems of economic policy as long as one recognizes the nature of the value judgments implied. This is the point of view which emerges with increasing clarity in modern welfare economics. In this respect also, the theory of international trade has done valuable pioneering work for modern theory generally. (For further comments on the issue of analysis versus policy, see Chapter VI below.)

A distinction is commonly made between the "monetary" and "pure" (or "equilibrium") theory of international trade. The former deals with

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> B. Ohlin, Interregional and International Trade, 1935, p. 40.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> The possible retort that his argument does not in effect imply such a value judgment (an argument which I could not accept) can be answered by pointing out that if this were true the classicists also would not be guilty of such mixing of value judgment and explanation.

the methods of adjustment in the balance of payments and with the determination of exchange rates. The latter abstracts from the monetary mechanism and attempts to describe the conditions of equilibrium in "real" magnitudes. How the two types of theories are interlocked has by no means been fully explained. Similarly, in economic theory in general the logical integration of monetary theory, macroeconomic employment theory, and the theory of business fluctuations on the one hand, and of price and value theory on the other, continues to present us with many unsolved problems. The monetary theory of foreign trade is in part a dynamic theory and is closely related to business cycle theory and to the modern theory of the determination of income and employment levels associated for many with the name of Keynes. The pure theory of international trade, however, is a part of general value and price theory. Furthermore, the classical theory of "comparative costs," and the more modern version which succeeded and elaborated it, are static general equilibrium theories. Partial equilibrium analysis also may be applied to the problems of international economic transactions. The attempt to assess the effect of a customs duty on one commodity on the particular industry concerned (not on the economy as a whole) would be an example of this. There exist only rudiments of truly dynamic analysis in the field of non-monetary trade theory.

The non-monetary theory of international trade occasionally has been identified as a type of *location theory*, for example, by Ohlin. This is correct in a formal sense, since it is one of the major goals of the theory of foreign trade to explain the international division of labor, or, in other words, the geographical location of the various lines of producton. It must be recognized, however, that a different type of location theory, independent of trade theory, has grown up and has reached a high level of refinement. The logical relationship of these two related theories, trade theory and location theory, can be characterized in the following manner: The traditional theory of international trade is at a higher level of abstraction; it treats the separate countries or regions as spaceless points (markets) and abstracts (with occasional exceptions) from the spatial characteristics of the domestic markets and from intraregional transportation costs. Location theory, on the other hand, emphasizes the space factor and operates "closer to reality." For the very reason that it is less abstract, however, this theory has as yet been unable to develop a comprehensive general equilibrium system. It is still largely partial equilibrium analysis. Lösch and Isard have gone further than anyone else in the direction of setting up a general equilibrium system of location. Only when this theory succeeds in developing a system of general equilibrium will the theory of international trade become merely a special case within such a general framework. It would seem advisable to approach this goal from both directions, by giving more

#### consideration to the space factor and transportation cost in trade theory and by generalizing location theory into a fully interdependent system.<sup>4</sup>

<sup>4</sup> Walter Isard, the most prominent living location theorist, has done more than anyone else to combine trade and location theory in a comprehensive general equilibrium model comprising more than two countries and commodities as well as the space factor ("distant input"). Isard's model is, however, still drastically simplified, highly abstract and formalistic and as yet hardly fit for useful application. Isard admits that traditional location theory is partial equilibrium theory. "For the most part, demand has been taken as given" and emphasis has been on the cost side. Isard is, however, mistaken when he goes on to say that trade theory "has placed greater emphasis on the [demand] blade of the scissors." He overlooks the fact that "reciprocal demand," to which he obviously refers, is just as much a matter of cost as of demand. See Isard and Peek, "Location Theory and International and Interregional Trade Theory." Quarterly Journal of Economics, February 1954, p. 105 and passim.

# II. The Classical Theory of Comparative Costs and International Values-from Hume to Marshall

No attempt will be made here to give an account of the *pre-classical theories*, commonly characterized as mercantilistic. The reason for this is not that the pre-classical literature is without interest to us, nor, as has been claimed so frequently, that one cannot speak of a theory of mercantilism as distinguished from mercantilistic policies. Pre-classical theories offer a great deal that is of interest, and the transition to the classical system is by no means as sudden as brief treatises on the history of doctrines often present it to be. The mercantilists did much indispensable pioneering work for the classical writers. But it is not surprising that most of the mercantilist literature is at a low scientific level compared with the classical writings, and deals to a great extent with economic policy matters rather than with problems of theory.<sup>1</sup>

The pre-classical literature of mercantilism must be divided into strongly divergent national groups and periods. For this reason no short summary of this material is feasible without doing grave injustice to it. We shall, therefore, begin our sketch of the history of doctrines with the classical writers; their work in the area of international trade theory, more than in other fields of economics, forms the basis of modern economic theorizing.

The brightest and best known stars on the firmament of the classical theory of international trade are David Hume, Adam Smith, Henry Thornton, David Ricardo, and John Stuart Mill. Grouped around them are numerous less influential, though in part highly original writers, such as Torrens, Malthus, Blake, Wheatly, Longfield, and Senior.

Hume's contribution to the theory of international trade (*Political Discourses*, 1752) is without question more significant and more original than the work of Smith (*The Wealth of Nations*, 1776), although the latter's influence on economic theory and practice proved much greater. Hume deals primarily with the international monetary mechanism. He not only refutes some mercantilistic errors but also develops the functional relationship, based on quantity theory of money considerations, between the circulation of money, prices, and the balance of payments. In this connection it is interesting to note that he does not overlook dynamic elements. Thus, he admits that during the period of

<sup>1</sup> On the pre-classical literature compare the standard works, by Heckscher, Viner and Wu, for which complete citations are given in Section I of the bibliography at the end of this paper. transition from one equilibrium to another, following a disturbance in a previous equilibrium situation, an increase or decrease of the quantity of money may well have a temporary influence on the volume of production. This notion later assumed great importance in the work of Malthus and, more recently, in Keynesian theory.

Adam Smith's description of the balance of payments adjustment mechanism hardly goes beyond Hume's theory. However, Smith's refutation of the errors of the mercantilists, as well as his presentation of the advantages of free international movements and the division of labor, is much more detailed and better illustrated with historical examples than are the concise presentations of Hume. This probably explains, to a large extent, the greater subsequent influence of A. Smith.

Henry Thornton dealt primarily with the international monetary mechanism. Together with Hume, he was one of the originators of that version of the classical transfer theory which stresses the role of shifts in international price levels as against those transfer theorists who deny the necessity of price shifts and emphasize instead changes in incomes, purchasing power, and (more recently in Keynesian theory) levels of employment. Malthus, John Stuart Mill, and, subsequently, Taussig, and Keynes (in the debate over the German reparations problem), all belong to the school of Hume and Thornton. The other type of transfer theory, originating with Ricardo and Wheatly, which of late has frequently been called the "modern" theory (Iversen), emphasizes changes in "income" and "buying power" (of course, these words make their appearance only much later) and does not consider price shifts as always necessary for transfers. This version was stressed particularly by Wicksell and, more recently, by Ohlin, as well as in the theories based on Keynes' General Theory of Employment, Interest and Money.

The pure theory of international trade begins with Ricardo's Theory of Comparative Costs, set forth in Chapter VII of the first (1817) edition of his *Principles*. Parenthetically, it is to be noted that the theorem had already been formulated by Torrens in 1815, who, however, does not seem to have been fully aware of the implications of his idea.<sup>2</sup> According to this theory, under free trade each country will specialize in the production of those goods which it can produce relatively cheaply and import those goods for the production of which foreign countries possess a comparative advantage. Based on the labor theory of value, the theory assumed complete mobility of the factors of production internally and complete immobility internationally. In the strict sense, the labor theory of value assumes that the factor "labor" is the sole means of production. For it, the existence of several factors of production, used in different and varying proportions, results in insoluble complications. (See Section III, below.)

The theory is best illustrated with the aid of Ricardo's famous ex-

<sup>2</sup> See J. Viner, Studies in the Theory of International Trade, 1937, pp. 442-443.

ample: In England a gallon of wine costs 120 and a yard of cloth 100 hours of work, while in Portugal the real cost (labor cost) of wine and cloth amounts to 80 and 90 hours of work respectively. Portugal thus has an absolute advantage over England in the production of either commodity, but a comparatively greater one in the production of wine, since  $\frac{80}{120} < \frac{90}{100}$ . Without trade the internal ratio of the prices of wine and cloth (as expressed in labor, in terms of some "numéraire," or in terms of money) would be proportional to their costs of production, that is, 120:100 in England and 80:90 (or 88.8:100) in Portugal. Thus, cloth is comparatively cheap in England and wine is comparatively cheap in Portugal. After trade is opened between the two countries, England will export cloth and import wine. Ignoring transport costs, an equilibrium price ("real exchange ratio" or "terms of trade") will result which will lie between the limits of 120:100 and 88.8:100. Let us assume, for example, that the equilibrium ratio of exchange is 100:100. If England now specializes in the production of cloth and transfers labor from agriculture into industry, it can produce 1.2 units of cloth for each unit of wine which it no longer produces. These units of cloth could now be exchanged for 1.2 units of imported wine from Portugalwith a resulting net gain of .2 unit of wine for each unit of cloth exported; alternatively, the same quantity of goods produced before trade occurred could now be procured at lower total real costs.

Ricardo's presentation of this theory is extremely compact. He eliminates only few of the numerous simplifying assumptions, most of which are implied in his analysis and are not stated explicitly. A good part of the later theory of international trade has been devoted to the task of stating explicitly and then dropping one by one these simplifying assumptions so as to render the theory of comparative costs more precise and more generally applicable.

Ricardo himself demonstrated how labor costs could be translated into money costs and money prices. To do so, it is necessary to make assumptions about money wages in the two countries and the rate of exchange, and to introduce a condition concerning equilibrium in the balance of payments. In the event of disequilibrium in the balance of payments, money will flow from the deficit to the surplus country, resulting in a change in prices and money incomes in both countries until equilibrium is reestablished.

Thus an integration of the "monetary" and the "real" theory, is, in fact, accomplished although under the much simplified static assumption of "neutral money," in other words, under the assumption that money either does not affect the real magnitudes in the economy at all or does so only temporarily and superficially. It must not be overlooked, however, that the classical writers did not, in effect, make such assumptions in their writings on problems of domestic money and credit policy. The assumption of constant costs can easily be replaced by a more realistic one of increasing marginal costs. On the other hand, the existence of decreasing costs involves complications of which the classical writers were not fully aware. The difficulties inherent in this situation were overcome only gradually in the course of the development of neo-classical theory.

In the two-commodity case constant comparative costs merely set the limits between which the ratio of international interchange ("barter terms of trade") will fall. Their exact location will be determined by the interplay of the forces of demand and supply. This extremely important addition to the comparative cost doctrine, known as the *theory* of international values, was introduced by John Stuart Mill, although hints of this can also be found in the earlier literature. Mill developed the theory of the demand of a country for the products of other countries expressed in terms of the units of its own exports. In this context, he employed the concept of demand elasticity which has become so important in modern times without, however, actually using the words themselves. Moreover, he also mentioned certain analytical complications (multiple equilibria), as well as economic policy consequences, which could result under conditions of inelastic demand and supply schedules.

The theory of international values was further systematically developed by Marshall with the aid of graphic and analytical methods. Marshall introduced the so-called reciprocal demand and supply curves. "Reciprocal" means here that the demand curve of country A for the products of country B is simultaneously A's supply curve of its own exports. These types of demand and supply curves should not be confused with: (a) ordinary demand and supply curves which relate functionally the quantity of one commodity supplied and demanded to its money price; (b) the so-called export-supply or import-demand curves which present the quantity of exports or imports of one commodity as a function of the market price (the b-curves are derived from the a-curves, by subtracting at each price the abscissa of one curve from that of the other, since supply of exports = total supply minus domestic demand, and demand for imports = total demand minus domestic supply); (c) supply curves for total exports or demand curves for total imports, which show the volume of imports and exports as a function of (average) export and import money prices, respectively. The curves mentioned in (c) have recently been employed frequently in connection with the theory of currency devaluation and its influence on the balance of payments (see Section V below). They can be regarded as an average or summation of the curves mentioned in (b).

While (a), (b), and (c) are tools for *partial* equilibrium analysis, Marshall's more complex curves attempt to represent a *general* equilibrium in international trade. Each point along such a curve is in effect a

possible point of equilibrium and each movement along the curve presupposes that the economy of the country concerned has adapted itself to the new equilibrium situation. Edgeworth very aptly compared Marshall's curves with the hands of a watch which are moved by a mechanism lying below the watch face. "A movement along a supplyand-demand curve of international trade should be considered as attended with rearrangements of internal trade; as the movement of the hand of a clock corresponds to considerable unseen movements of the machinerv."3

Following the tradition of the classical writers, Marshall's model deals with two countries and two commodities. However, exports and imports are assumed to be composed of a large number of different commodities. The units he deals with are "representative commodity bales," chosen in such a way that each bale contains a constant quantity of labor or means of production in general. The commodity composition of the bales changes not only when the curves shift "autonomously," that is, as the result of technological innovations, but also in consequence of equilibrating adjustments, individual commodities shifting from the import to the export side and vice versa. These constructions still betray the influence of the labor theory of value and of the "real costs theory"; they are far from precise and obscure highly complex index number and aggregation problems.

A number of writers have attempted to extend the classical theory of comparative costs to the situation in which there are several countries and several commodities. The most important of these were Mangoldt (whose theory has been made familiar in the English literature through the summary given by Edgeworth and Viner), and more recently, F. D. Graham and August Lösch. The latter's position, however, is primarily a critical one with respect to the classical theory. Graham too, of course, has been critical of what he calls the "classical theory," but he is better characterized as "ultra-classical" than "anti-classical."

Under the assumption of constant cost, it is not difficult to imagine that all goods that could enter into the international trade between two countries are listed in the order of their comparative advantage to one of the countries. It can then be shown that in equilibrium exports and imports must be divided in such a way that each country will possess a comparative advantage with respect to all its exports and a comparative disadvantage with respect to all its imports. It is true that in this case, in contrast to the two-commodity model, the composition of exports and imports can no longer be determined purely on the basis of the cost data alone.4 If we assume, for example, that foreign demand

<sup>8</sup> F. Y. Edgeworth, *Papers Relating to Political Economy*, Vol. II, 1925, p. 32. <sup>4</sup> It is interesting to observe that the modern theory of "linear programming" or "activity analysis" has taken up the constant cost model of Ricardo. The starting point was Graham's extension of the Ricardian theory into many-country and many-commodity models. Graham's laborious arithmetic examples have been genfor a country's exports increases, we would find that this leads generally not merely to an improvement in the international terms of trade but also to a change in the composition of imports and exports as well. Certain commodities which were previously exported will now be imported or, if we take account of transport costs, goods which previously did not enter foreign trade but whose price was close to the import point, will now be imported. By import point we mean here that price above which it becomes profitable to import the commodity involved, analogous to the gold import point in the theory of foreign exchange rates. The export point, on the other hand, is that price below which the commodity involved will be exported. The spread between export and import points is determined by transport costs in the broadest sense of the term.

eralized with the superior tools of linear programming. (See the papers by Whitin and McKenzie, Section III of the attached bibliography.) This strikingly illustrates the basic continuity of theoretical development.

# III. Modern Developments of the Pure Theory

One of the major objections to the classical theory has always been that it assumes labor to be the sole and universal factor of production and endows it with complete mobility. This is a fatal defect for it is after all perfectly clear that there are not one but many factors of production and that many of these are quite immobile in space or amenable only to *specific* uses, that is, can be utilized in only a limited number of ways. Even the factor "labor" is neither homogeneous nor mobile as between occupations or localities, particularly in the short run. One method frequently used to overcome this difficulty has been to speak not of labor but of "productive resources" in general. This may be acceptable as a shorthand form of expression, if based on a satisfactory theory, but not as a solution of the problem.

Among modern theorists, Taussig and Viner are the only ones who couch their arguments in terms of a "real cost theory" of value, but not a simple labor time theory. By real costs the classical writers meant, in Viner's words (Studies, p. 492), "all subjective costs directly associated with production. The irksomeness of labor, whether in comparison with leisure or with some other kind of labor, and the 'abstinence' associated with voluntary postponement of consumption ["capital cost"] were for them the important real costs." Defined in this manner, Viner feels that he is able to show that, as a rule, money costs and prices tend to be proportional to real costs. He concedes, however, that there are certain kinds of costs-he speaks of land costs as an example-which do not involve subjective cost. In order to vindicate the real cost theory it must be assumed either that all inputs involve subjective cost (disutility) and that their prices (remuneration of different kinds of labor) are proportional to the disutility involved, or that the proportion in which different types of labor and other inputs are used are at least approximately the same in different industries. Neither one of these alternatives can be regarded as representative of the real world and it is therefore not surprising that the real cost interpretation of the classical trade theory has found so little support in modern literature.

Instead of the artificial assumptions underlying a "real cost theory," it is now the general practice to apply either the concept of opportunity costs or the modern theory of general equilibrium to the problem of international trade. Basically there is no contradiction between these two methods. The doctrine of opportunity costs, when carried sufficiently far beyond the initial simplifying assumptions and elaborated more fully merges into the theory of general equilibrium. The former theory can thus be looked upon as a somewhat simplified version of the latter, designed for easy presentation and practical use.<sup>1</sup>

The Ricardian example of trade between England and Portugal can be interpreted in terms of the theory of opportunity cost without wrecking Ricardo's reasoning and objectives. The explanatory function of the labor theory of value is to determine the price ratio, or, put in reciprocal terms, the exchange ratio between the two commodifies. It also has the purpose of showing that the two commodities can be substituted for each other in proportion to their costs by means of a shift in production; that is, by a transfer of the means of production (labor). If it were possible to show, without making the unacceptable assumptions of the labor theory of value, that the exchange ratio (price ratio) in the market and the rate of substitution coincide, the conclusions of the classical writers regarding the advantages of international trade would remain intact. And it can indeed be proved that, under certain "ideal" conditions, even if we assume the existence of a large number of more or less immobile and specific factors of production, the exchange ratio between any two commodities will be equal to the marginal rate of substitution between them. These required conditions are identical with those which usually underlie general equilibrium theory: free competition in all commodity and product markets as well as the absence of so-called "external economies." Under such conditions, com-

<sup>1</sup> Viner distinguishes (*Studies*, p. 520) between the opportunity cost approach and an "outright income approach" and says that the former has no obvious advantage over the latter. To my mind there is no such difference. The opportunity cost theory is an outright income approach. True, income in the first approximation is defined in terms of only two commodities. But this simplification is obviously dictated by the difficulties of handling many dimensions. It is a drastic simplification, but no more so than those of Ricardo's famous example or of any representation of such complicated relationships by means of two-dimensional graphs such as Marshall's curves.

The dispute between these various "approaches"—"real cost," "opportunity cost," "income approach"—is no longer a live, substantive issue—if it ever was one—but is in a sense a semantic snare. However, for a good recent discussion of these issues, see J. Vanek, *Review of Economic Studies*, 1959.

Most writers agree more or less on what factors are, in principle, important. But since a truly general equilibrium system, involving as it must many variables, is not easy to handle, for most economists it becomes necessary to make drastic simplifications. Differences may then well arise as to which factors should be introduced explicitly and which ones be thrown, provisionally at least, on the *ceteris paribus* dump. For example, in opportunity cost theorizing it is usually assumed that the supply of factors of production is constant and inelastic with respect to price. For labor this is clearly not true. But this assumption is obviously made for the purpose of facilitating the presentation and it can be easily dropped, though at the price of a much more cumbersome presentation. (For example, the elegant box diagram with the help of which Stolper and Samuelson derive the transformation curve from production functions presupposes constant factor supply.) Another example is provided by the fact that the opportunity cost theory ab-

Another example is provided by the fact that the opportunity cost theory abstracts from differences in disutility ("irksomeness") of different kinds of labor—a circumstance that is treated explicitly and with emphasis by the real cost theorists. Clearly, it may be an important factor, which must not be neglected, especially modity prices equal "private" marginal costs expressed in monetary terms; the price of each factor of production is equal to the money value of its marginal product; and the ratio of "private" marginal costs of any two commodities is equal to their "social" rate of substitution or transformation.

These conditions will of course only be approximated and will at best be satisfied only in the long run. They are not satisfied, for example, if commodity and factor prices (wages for example) are determined monopolistically, are fixed by the government, or are otherwise inflexible. Parenthetically, it is to be noted that rigid prices should not be identified with monopoly prices, for only in certain cases—kinked demand curve—is the monopoly price a rigid price.

Assuming "ideal" conditions as defined, a general equilibrium will result under free trade, ignoring transport costs, in which the international terms of trade are equal to the social rate of substitution between the two commodities in each of the two countries. These conditions correspond to the optimum requirements of modern welfare economics. "Optimum" is not used in an absolute sense but in the same ("Paretian") sense in which free competition is said to result in an optimum allocation of the factors of production as compared with monopoly. (Modern theorists like to speak in this case of "efficient" production, meaning thereby that if those conditions are not fulfilled it is always possible to produce more of some commodities without reducing the output of any other, or to produce the same output with a smaller input.)

It can further be shown that deviations from the competitive ideal, or the existence of external economies, result in a deviation of the free trade position from the obtainable optimum in the sense explained. This provides us with a theoretically valid argument justifying certain departures from a free trade policy. To mention merely one example, let us assume that a certain industry is exposed to foreign competition. If wages are rigid and workers become unemployed instead of accepting a wage cut or of being transferred to other industries, the prerequisites for free trade no longer exist. In such a case, a certain amount of protection may be economically justified.

For the standard case involving two countries and two commodities all of this can easily be demonstrated with the aid of graphic methods. Our major analytical tool is the so-called substitution, production possibility, or transformation curve. This curve shows the largest possible

when evaluating the welfare implications of international trade. Economic welfare and national income cannot be defined solely in terms of utility of output; disutility of input must not be forgotten. (But it should also be remembered that a positive value or utility may attach to labor input; the utility of leisure is not only diminishing but may be even negative from a certain point on.)

But it is only fair to add that the opportunity cost theorist regards his definition of income in terms of commodities only as a first approximation. He relegates other dimensions of welfare to verbal qualifications and *ceteris paribus* clauses.

alternative combinations of the two commodities which can be produced with the available factors of production, or more precisely, the maximum amount of one commodity for each preassigned amount of the other. Assuming that there are only two inputs, the transformation curve can be derived from the production functions for the two commodities (see Samuelson and Stolper). Such a derivation makes the theory of international trade an integral part of the general theory of production.

Another frequently used concept is that of a community *indifference curve*, first introduced into the theory of international trade by Edgeworth. More recently Kaldor, Leontief, Lerner, and Scitovsky have employed this tool of analysis. Through it the theory of international trade is closely linked to utility and consumption theory. It is important to note, however, that strictly speaking it is not acceptable—although it is often done even by first-rate theorists—to apply simple indifference curve analysis as a tool for purposes of explanation or of evaluation with respect to individualistically organized economies as if it were nothing but a somewhat more complicated replica of a single firm or household.

We are dealing here with the old problem of social or collective utility. Although attempts have been made to grapple with the problem of drawing indifference curves for a community or society rather than an individual (Scitovsky and Stolper), we are still far from a satisfactory solution. The literature of modern welfare economics is, however, beginning to show the first signs of a successful clarification of the problems involved here.<sup>2</sup>

Pareto attempted to apply the methods of the Lausanne school to international trade problems, but he did not get beyond a more or less formal equation system which can hardly be used for purposes of analysis. Yntema in 1932, on the other hand, produced an excellent mathematical reformulation of the classical theory, particularly of the balance of payments mechanism. Twelve years later Mosak, using more modern methods of analysis, based on the Hicksian theory of general equilibrium, further generalized and refined Yntema's work. More recently attempts at synthesizing, summarizing, and simplifying certain areas of trade theory have been made by Meade (A Geometry of International Trade), Harry Johnson (International Trade and Economic Growth and Economic Journal, March 1960) and R. A. Mundell (American Economic Review, March 1960 and Quarterly Journal of Economics, May 1960).

<sup>2</sup> In a paper in the *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, February 1956, Professor Samuelson presents what may well be a definitive clarification of the problem of "community indifference curves." He proves conclusively that it is *impossible* (except in a singular case) to derive from individual indifference maps a group indifference map which permits the derivation of offer or demand curves of the group in the same manner as an individual's offer or demand curve can be derived from his indifference map. Ohlin, in the tradition of the Swedish school (Wicksell, Cassel, Heckscher), also attempted to apply general equilibrium methods in international trade. His work, however, differs from that of Yntema and Mosak and the other authors just mentioned because he regards his theory not as a generalization and amplification of the classical theory, but as a radically different approach. However, his disagreement with classical theory is, in reality, mainly with the labor theory of value and with the alleged intermingling of normative with explanatory considerations, as noted earlier.

Ohlin begins by setting up a model of two "regions" which, however, do not differ from the "countries" in the classical theory for he defines regions as areas within which factors move freely while they cannot cross regional boundaries.3 From the start he assumes the existence of many commodities and many factors of production. He also posits a certain rate of exchange, since without such a rate prices in the various countries could not be compared. Each region will now specialize in the production of those commodities which it can produce more cheaply in terms of money, but not necessarily in terms of labor or other real units. Ohlin then discusses the circumstances which determine the comparative costs of production in money terms, that is, relative price structures. He considers the most important determinant to be the differential endowment of various regions (countries) with factors of production, taking into account not only different amounts of such factors of production as land, climate, natural resources, but also differences in the quantities and qualities of capital and labor, the influence of social institutions, and so forth.

Even assuming that two countries are equally endowed—both absolutely and relatively—with all kinds of factors of production, their price systems could still differ and thus render an exchange of goods between these two countries both possible and profitable. This would be the case if the structure of demand in the two countries were not identical and this might result either from a different distribution of income or from a different pattern of tastes. Moreover, even if all prices were equal before trade, trade could still take place if the increase of the area of trade resulted in economies of scale through large-scale operations.

Ohlin discusses all of these and many additional circumstances not only in an abstract static sense but also from a historical and dynamic point of view. For example, he demonstrates how the supply of the factors of production and the structure of demand, as well as the underlying taste pattern, might be changed through the influence of international competition and trade and that it would therefore be incorrect simply to assume these data as given. Many examples from economic history and commercial geography lend a good deal of realism to his

<sup>8</sup> He does, it must be noted, discuss in later chapters international factor movements and the interaction between factor and commodity movements. theory; but there is also a certain amount of vagueness, obscurity or even apparent (uneliminated although possibly eliminable) inconsistencies and contradictions. His imagination, intuition and vision outrun his capacity for systematic, precise, theoretical presentation—which is true of every empirical scholar worth his salt.

An interesting problem which Ohlin studies, building on Heckscher, concerns the tendency toward the international equalization of the prices of factors of production under free trade—the so-called *Heckscher-Ohlin law of factor price equalization*. An example of this is the well known theorem that the exchange of goods between agricultural and industrial countries will tend to result in an increase in the previously relatively low level of land rents and a drop of the high level of industrial wages (relative to rents though not necessarily also in absolute terms) in the agricultural country. In the industrial country, on the other hand, the opposite change in factor prices occurs. Ohlin claims that actually only a *partial* equalization of factor prices will take place; excepting special cases, complete equalization of factor prices could occur only if the factors of production themselves were freely mobile internationally.

This problem has been assiduously discussed during the last ten years. Independently of each other, both Lerner and Samuelson came to the conclusion, to their own surprise, that under certain assumptions free trade in commodities will result in *complete* equalization of the prices, both absolute and relative, of all factors of production as between the trading countries. This proposition was further developed by Tinbergen, Meade, and Laursen. It would thus seem that free trade may be a complete and not merely a partial substitute for free international mobility of labor and other factors of production.

This conclusion is at variance with the old classical theory of international trade. It is implicit in the Ricardian theory of comparative cost that free trade equilibrium is perfectly compatible with large and lasting differences in real wage or per capita real income levels; in other words, factor prices are not equalized by free commodity movements except perhaps in special cases. It is necessary to stress this fact because some writers (especially G. Myrdal) have criticized classical trade theory on the ground that it predicts equalization (or at least a tendency towards equalization) of real income levels resulting from international trade, while in reality the statistical record shows, it is said, an increase rather than a decrease of inequality of per capita real income as between poor and rich, developed and underdeveloped, primary producing and industrial countries.

This is not the place to discuss whether and in what sense international income inequality has in fact increased. Suffice it to say that classical trade theory does not teach that international trade must necessarily operate so as to benefit the poor countries more than the rich.

Myrdal's strictures apply to the special theory associated with the names of Samuelson and Lerner to the effect that free commodity trade is a perfect substitute for free international factor movements, and not to classical or neo-classical trade theory in general.

But even if directed against this special theory, the criticism misses the point because it ignores the fact that according to that theory factor prices are equalized by free commodity trade only under very special assumptions. These assumptions go far beyond what we called above "ideal conditions" (free competition and absence of external economies); in fact, they are so restrictive and so unrepresentative of actual reality that the theory can be said to prove the opposite of what it seems to purport to say—namely, that there is no chance whatsoever that factor prices will ever be equalized by free commodity trade.<sup>4</sup>

Briefly stated, the assumptions under which free commodity trade equalizes factor prices are as follows: (1) free competition in all markets; (2) absence of transportation cost, hence equality of all commodity prices as between different countries or regions; (3) all commodities continue to be produced in both countries after free trade has begun, in other words, that specialization is incomplete<sup>5</sup>; (4) the production functions in both countries are identical and homogeneous in the first degree, that is, a given uniform percentage change in the quantity of all inputs results in an equal percentage variation in the resulting output; (5) in addition, the production function must be such that one commodity is always labor intensive and the other always capital intensive whatever the relative supply of factors and the ratio of factor prices; (6) the factors of production are qualitatively the same in all countries, although they are available in different quantities; and (7) the number of factors is not greater than the number of commodities. In a two-commodity model, for example, there could be no equalization of factor prices (except by chance), if there were three or more factors.

Making these assumptions, the Lerner-Samuelson theory can be proved somewhat like this: If under free commodity trade all prices of the factors of production in the two countries were *not* equal, then all costs and commodity prices could not be equal. This follows from the assumption that all commodities are actually produced in both countries and that costs only depend on the *relative* quantity of the inputs and not on the scale of output—the assumption of homogeneity of the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> What one can perhaps hold against the first proponents of the theory is that they were not fully aware of the restrictiveness and unreality of the assumptions they had to make in order to demonstrate the equalization of factor prices under free trade.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> In a two-commodity model that condition may not seem overly restrictive. But in a multi-commodity model, it means that each commodity is produced in all countries. In this context, the condition becomes very unrealistic indeed.

production functions. Under free trade, however, and ignoring transport costs, commodity prices in the two countries would have to be equal.

As Samuelson and, before him, Viner have emphasized, the fourth prerequisite, identical production functions, is anything but self-evident, for it implies not only identical technical knowledge, skills, and so forth, but also identical climates, physical and social conditions, and so on.<sup>6</sup>

We must thus conclude that the Lerner-Samuelson theory, though formally correct, rests on such restrictive and unrealistic assumptions that it can hardly be regarded as a valuable contribution to economic theory. Its elegance and pedagogic value, as well as its importance as a precise presentation of all the implied assumptions, are however in no way affected by this fact. Ohlin's more modest and somewhat unprecise contention, of which he himself admitted the possibility of exceptions, to the effect that trade will tend to bring about a partial equalization of factor prices would, however, seem to be valid as an empirical proposition.

We are confronted here with an example of a frequent dilemma in theoretical research.<sup>7</sup> If, on the one hand, we base our analysis on more or less realistic assumptions, we have to be content with rather uncertain and at best approximate results. If, on the other hand, we are looking for unambiguous results, we are forced to make highly specific, and, usually, not generally applicable assumptions, or, at any rate, assumptions that are difficult to prove.

The same general comment applies to a proposition developed by Stolper and Samuelson, later qualified by Metzler, dealing with the influence of international trade on functional income distribution.

Numerous classical and neo-classical writers, including Bastable,

<sup>6</sup> Ohlin thought it self-evident that the production function is everywhere the same; this, he said, followed from the fact that the same causes everywhere (and at any time) produce the same effects.

However, if the concept of the production function is to be a useful tool of analysis, it cannot be identified with, or derived from, such unverifiable metaphysical propositions as "the constancy of the laws of nature." As Samuelson has suggested, the concept of the production function should be conceived in terms of well defined, variable (although not necessarily infinitesimally divisible) inputs, leaving milieu and climate (both social and physical), factors *extra commercium*, outside the function. By hypostasizing every conceivable circumstance which may affect output as a separate factor, the production function can, no doubt, be endowed with constancy, invariance, homogeneity, and what not, but at the price of emptying the theory of all empirical content and reducing it to a useless tautological system.

<sup>7</sup> Strictly speaking, the dilemma is always there. Einstein's famous dictum about mathematics applies to all theory: "Inasmuch as mathematical propositions refer to reality they are not certain, and inasmuch as they are certain they do not apply to reality." However, the degree of uncertainty may be so slight in some cases that for practical purposes we can speak of certainty.

Wicksell, Taussig, and Viner, have dealt with the effect of international trade, and the results of a reduction in tariffs, on the income distribution in general and on the level of real wages in particular. For economic policy this problem is of great interest, for one of the most powerful protectionist arguments has always been that under free trade the wage levels in wealthy countries will be depressed by competition from poor countries with low wages. That this argument in its crude form is untenable and is disproved by the theory of comparative cost has been generally recognized. However, doubts arise as soon as one turns away from the simplified model of the classical world and assumes instead the existence of numerous, in part immobile, or highly specific or specialized factors of production. The results of older theorizing can be summarized as follows: The incomes of the owners of specific factors of production in the export industries are affected favorably by international trade; in the import industries they are affected unfavorably. Thus, in agricultural countries rents will increase under free trade while the opposite will occur in industrial countries. The same applies in the short run to "quasi-rents" (incomes from durable capital goods) and to the wages of specialized labor groups. The situation is more complicated for mobile factors of production, such as, for example, labor and capital in the long run.

Wicksell, Pigou, and Viner have pointed out that free trade may shift the distribution of incomes against wage earners if the export industries are less labor intensive than the import industries. It is even conceivable that labor's share in the social product falls more than the social product itself increases, with the result that labor income would fall in absolute terms. This, however, is regarded by them as improbable and, in any case, would only be a possible and not a necessary result.

Samuelson and Stolper on the other hand believe they can unambiguously demonstrate that the relatively scarce factor of production will suffer absolutely under free trade—not only relatively in the sense that its share in the larger product will decline. This would apply, for example, to the labor factor in a thinly populated country, such as the United States during the nineteenth century. Conversely, the classical writers found a strong supporting argument for free trade in the fact that in the densely populated older countries the distribution of income would, under free trade, be altered in favor of the workers at the expense of the landowners. Stolper and Samuelson affirm that their result contradicts the "traditional" theory.

This contention is, however, misleading. As stated by the two writers themselves, their unambiguous conclusion strictly holds only under the unrealistic and highly restrictive assumptions of two factors of production and the production of all commodities taking place in each of the two countries after trade has been opened—that is, incomplete specialization. The theory thus would not apply to what would seem to me a more realistic model with three or more factors of production, for example, a model with one factor specific for export industries, another specific for the import industries, plus two or more transferable ones.<sup>8</sup> What we called above the results of traditional theory would seem to be reasonable for this model.

Some of the issues here involved have recently been pushed beyond the area of theoretical speculation into the field of statistical measurement. In an econometric article that immediately acquired fame and caused a great deal of puzzlement, Leontief has put his input-output machinery to work and reached the conclusion, apparently to his own surprise, that United States exports are labor intensive and imports capital intensive. "... an average million dollars' worth of our exports embodies considerably less capital and somewhat more labor than would be required to replace from domestic production an equivalent amount of our competitive imports. America's participation in the international division of labor is based on its specialization on labor, rather than capital intensive lines of production. In other words this country resorts to foreign trade in order to economize its capital and dispose of its surplus labor, rather than vice versa."<sup>9</sup>

These findings are *prima facie* astonishing because nobody doubts that compared with the rest of the world the United States is a capitalrich country in the sense that per worker more capital is used in the American economy than in almost all foreign countries. This holds for the economy as a whole as well as for most individual industries compared with similar industries abroad. One would therefore expect that America has a comparative advantage in, and exports the products of, those industries which use much of the abundant factor—capital—and imports the products of those industries that use much of the scarce factor—labor, except if by chance tastes are different compared with abroad so as to offset the influence of differences in factor endowment.

The factual findings themselves will not be called in question here, although some doubts have been raised in the literature on that score. A few observations will be offered on how Leontief's results can be reconciled with traditional theory, an issue hotly debated by Ellsworth, Valavanis-Vail, and others.

I suggest that the circumstance which some critics, especially Ellsworth, have overlooked, or whose far-reaching implications they have not sufficiently realized, is that Leontief operates not from a two-factor model (as a large part of the theoretical literature does) but from a many-factor model. Capital for him is not a catchall for everything that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> This implies, of course, that the production function in terms of the transferable factors alone is not homogeneous. Decreasing returns to scale in both industries would seem to be a reasonable assumption.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> W. Leontief, "Domestic Production and Foreign Trade: The American Capital Position Re-examined," *Proceedings of the American Philosophical Society*, September 1953, p. 343.

is not labor, but is defined as produced means of production, plant and equipment, buildings, goods in process and inventories. In addition to labor and capital there exists a variety of other factors, including "natural resources," "management," and "entrepreneurship." These other factors are so heterogeneous in quality and so difficult to identify and measure—the line between quantifiable inputs and "milieu" or "atmosphere" is not easy to draw—that Leontief has found it impossible as yet to include them in his statistical measurements.

The existence of factors other than those explicitly treated implies that the production functions, *in terms of labor and capital*, are not necessarily homogeneous and that the production functions are not the same in different countries. (Leontief's statistics refer exclusively to the United States.)

Leontief himself tries to reconcile his findings with the postulates of traditional theory, which he fully accepts, by assuming that American labor is so much more "productive" than foreign labor that, if labor supply is measured in "efficiency units" rather than man-years, the United States may well be rich in labor and poor in capital compared with the rest of the world.

It is important to be quite clear what is meant by high labor productivity in this context. It is not simply the fact that output per manhour is high; this might be entirely due to the large capital stock and hence could not explain why the United States exports are labor intensive commodities. On the other hand, if the higher productivity of labor in the United States was simply the reflection of superior skill, better education, better discipline, reliability, and so on of the American worker, it would be capable of providing a logically acceptable answer to the problem. But as compared with other industrial countries this kind of superiority of United States labor is hardly sufficiently large-if it exists at all-to bear the whole burden of the explanation. The factor stressed most by Leontief is another one. American labor is superior because of the superiority of cooperating factors other than capital, namely: management, entrepreneurship, and natural resources. This surely helps to provide a theoretically acceptable reconciliation between the statistical findings and the postulates of traditional theory.

There is, however, still another explanation which overlaps and supplements Leontief's explanation. It could be that import competing industries in the United States are comparatively capital intensive because United States capital is a better substitute for foreign natural resources than United States labor. An extreme example cited by Leontief himself can serve as illustration. If the United States were to produce tea or coffee it would require great amounts of capital in the form of hothouses to make up for the lack of suitable soil, climate and other natural resources which favor the production of these things in foreign countries. The existence of other factors in addition to labor and capital destroys the symmetry which exists in theoretical two-factor models: From the fact that the United States exports labor intensive commodities it no longer follows that other countries export capital intensive commodities. In view of their different endowment with natural resources and other non-labor and non-capital factors what is, or would be, a capital intensive industry here—coffee production for example—may well be a labor intensive industry aboard.

In general, we may say that with many factors of production, some of which are qualitatively incommensurable as between different countries, and with dissimilar production functions in different countries, no sweeping *a priori* generalizations concerning the composition of trade are possible.

## IV. The Terms of Trade

Of great importance in the recent theory, as well as in economic policy discussions, is the concept of "the barter terms of trade" or "the real ratio of international interchange," the "commodity terms of trade" for short. It has become customary to distinguish between several types of such terms of trade. If, in the Ricardian example, the terms of trade work out as one gallon of wine exchanging for 0.89 yards of cloth, the outcome is very advantageous for England. If one gallon of wine exchanges for 1.20 yards of cloth, then Portugal is highly favored. In such simple cases, where we are dealing with only two commodities and with constant costs, the terms of trade are easy to define and to compute. Moreover, the measure has a double meaning in such a case: (a) It refers to the *commodity terms of trade*, that is, the terms under which two commodities are exchanged; and (b) it refers to the *factoral terms of trade*, that is, the ratio at which English and Portuguese labor, or the factors of production generally, are exchanged for each other.

Once we consider many commodities, the possibility of a changing composition of exports and imports, and historical changes in cost, the terms of trade concept loses its precision. Moreover, (a) and (b) then may differ from each other and we are confronted with complicated problems of measurement involving the use of index numbers. Only the commodity terms of trade are readily measurable and currently computed in most countries, although in recent years several attempts have been made to evaluate statistically changes in factoral terms of trade of a few countries during a few selected periods. In contrast to the ready availability of the commodity terms of trade and the extreme paucity of information about the factoral terms of trade, many economists prefer the latter for purposes of analysis and evaluation. Thus, the factoral terms of trade form the basis for Marshall's theory, since his REPRE-SENTATIVE BUNDLES OF BALES OF COMMODITIES are chosen in such a manner that each contains a constant quantity of "productive resources" and Robertson calls the double factoral terms the "true" terms of trade.

The commodity terms of trade can be calculated by dividing the index of export prices by the index of import prices. But in order to find the factoral terms of trade, the index of export prices has to be multiplied by a productivity index indicating by how much the input of factors per unit of exports has changed. Let us assume that the export price index is 1.10, or, in other words, that the average price of export goods has risen by 10 percent. Let us further assume that the productivity index is 1.05, or, in other words, that output per unit of input, per hour of labor for example, has increased by 5 percent. Each unit of exports thus contains less labor and the index of export prices of the factors of production will be  $1.10 \ge 1.05 = 1.15$ . In other words, the export price of the factors of production has increased by 15 percent over the base period, the price of a Marshallian bale expressed in money has gone up by 15 percent.

If we assume further that import prices remained unchanged, we would then have an improvement of 10 percent in the commodity terms of trade and of 15 percent in the *unilateral or single factoral terms of trade*, that is, one unit of labor exported buys 15 percent more import goods. If we multiply the import price index of 1.0 by the foreign productivity index of, say, 1.1 and divide the two corrected price indices by each other (1.15:1.10 = 1.05), we have the *bilateral or double factoral terms of trade*. That is to say, one hour of exported labor now buys 5 percent more foreign labor hours than in the base period.

The factoral terms of trade, either single or double, are extremely difficult to calculate in practice, because the concept of a "unit of productive factors," and thus that of a productivity index, is almost impossible to define operationally and to measure statistically. The mention above of units of labor hours was only for the purpose of elucidation, it was not meant to imply that we can ignore all the other factors of production or the existence of heterogeneous types rather than of a homogeneous quantity of labor factor.<sup>1</sup>

There is nonetheless a good reason why, in spite of all this, the concept of factoral terms of trade is still preferred by many economists. The interpretation of historical changes, especially those in the long run, depends to a large extent on the particular circumstances and causes which give rise to them. For example, it is customary for the so-called underdeveloped countries to complain that, apart from some temporary interruptions, the commodity terms of trade have shifted to their disadvantage since the 1870's. In other words, they assert that world prices of raw materials and agricultural products have fallen relative to those of finished products. Even assuming that the facts are correct, which we will not examine here, it does not follow at all that these countries are any worse off today or that they derive less advantage from international trade than previously, or that the changes which led to the alleged deterioration of their terms of trade have adversely affected them. This would depend on the nature of the causes of the deterioration in the trade terms.

Suppose that the commodity terms of trade have become less favorable for country A because, for some reason, B's demand for A's goods has decreased. This might happen because B's national income has

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> However, recently ingenious and daring attempts have been made actually to measure, or at least to indicate the order of magnitude, of changes in the single factoral terms of trade, in terms of labor, by the method of dividing the merchandise terms of trade by an index of output per head in the production of exports. See, for example, Ely Devons, "Statistics of United Kingdom Terms of Trade" in *The Manchester School*, September 1954, pp. 258-275.

temporarily or permanently fallen, or because B's import industries have either matured or are receiving greater protection than before, or because third countries are competing with A in B's market. In these cases a deterioration in the terms of trade is without question unfavorable for A. Clearly, not only the commodity terms but also the single, and perhaps the double, factoral terms have shifted against A.

Another possibility would be that the productivity of A's export industries has increased and they are therefore able to supply their products more cheaply. In this case the change of the commodity terms of trade against A is evidently more favorable (or less unfavorable) than in the former case. If the unfavorable shift in the commodity terms of trade has not been greater than the increase in productivity (which, in turn, would depend on the elasticity of foreign demand) then A's situation is better than it was before the change occurred. This is precisely what is meant by saying that the (single) factoral terms of trade have not deteriorated. It would, of course, have been still better if a high elasticity of B's demand had prevented any deterioration of A's commodity terms of trade, entailing an improvement in the factoral terms of trade.

A fall in transport costs is a special case and this development has in fact played an important role in the historical example mentioned above. For example, lowering of freight costs between the La Plata harbors and Liverpool would make it possible for both the English and the Argentine terms of trade to improve simultaneously if each is calculated at the home port. This would evidently imply that terms of trade for both have worsened if calculated at the port of the other country.<sup>2</sup> It should be observed, that the contention concerning the deterioration of raw material prices so often mentioned today refers exclusively to the statistics of the British commodity terms of trade loco British ports of importation.

We see therefore that extreme care must be taken when evaluating a change in the terms of trade, and that a distinction must be made between a number of different cases. However, it does not seem necessary nor would it be sufficient, to handle all the various cases by simply substituting for the commodity terms of trade the concept of the "factoral terms of trade" with which it is so difficult to operate in actual practice.

It should also be noted that at least two other types of terms of trade (with some variations in detail) have been suggested in the literature which, in contrast to the factoral terms of trade, are more easily amenable to statistical measurement and have actually been calculated for England by Imlah. These are the gross barter terms of trade (Taussig)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The result would be changed if the price of transport services were included as traded goods in the computation of the terms of trade. This would really be the correct procedure although it is rarely done, presumably because of the statistical difficulties.
and *income terms of trade* (Dorrance and Staehle), also called "Export Gain from Trade" (Imlah). Viner, who in Chapter IX of his *Studies* gives the most thorough and comprehensive theoretical discussion of the various concepts of terms of trade in their relation to the gains from trade, has labelled a variant of the income terms of trade an index of "total gain from trade." He makes it clear, however, that he himself does not believe that a measure of this type of terms of trade, or that of any other, can be regarded as an adequate and unequivocal indication of the gain which a country derives from trade or even of the amount or direction of change in such gains.

If we let  $P_e(P_i)$  be the export-(import-) price index and  $Q_e(Q_i)$  the export-(import-) quantity index, then the gross barter terms of trade is defined as  $\frac{Q_e}{Q_i}$ , the income terms of trade as  $\frac{Q_eP_e}{P_i}$ , while the commodity terms of trade is  $\frac{P_e^3}{P_i}$ .

Neither an increase in the index of the gross barter terms of trade nor of that of the income terms of trade can be regarded as an indication that a country's position has improved or that its gains from trade have increased. In fact, both of these measures are inferior to, and a less reliable guide than, the simple commodity terms of trade, because each of them treats as equivalent cases that have to be judged differently, even if other things have remained unchanged. Let me first explain what is meant by the "other things" that are supposed to remain constant. For the present purpose we define them as (a) volume of employment (or volume of production),<sup>4</sup> and (b) the balance of payments. We shall then assume that full employment as well as equilibrium in the balance of payments is maintained.<sup>5</sup>

Thus the gross barter terms of trade indicate an improvement when the volume of exports rises (the volume of imports remaining the same) because the country pays reparations or because it exports capital. Obviously, these two cases have to be judged differently.

<sup>a</sup> Imlah computes all three of these measures.  $\frac{Q_{\bullet}P_{\bullet}}{P_{1}}$  he calls the "Export Gain from Trade" index. In addition he computes what he calls "Total Gain from Trade" index which uses the quantity of total trade  $(Q_{\bullet} + Q_{1})$  instead of the quantity of exports alone.

<sup>4</sup> It should be observed that real national income cannot be taken as unchanged in the present *context*, because it will change as a result of a change in the terms of trade even if the volume of production (and employment) remains unchanged. The necessity of distinguishing between "volume of production" and "real national income" in an open economy will be further discussed in Section V below.

<sup>5</sup> The reason for this assumption is that any change, however destructive it may be—a deterioration of the terms of trade, a tariif, or for that matter even an earthquake or wasteful government expenditure—conceivably *may* (but need not) be indirectly beneficial, if it reduces unemployment and improves the balance of payments. Similarly, the "income terms of trade" can lead to a wrong conclusion in cases where the commodity terms of trade give the right answer. Consider, for example, the following two cases. For simplicity, assume that import prices, quantities and value are unchanged and the value of exports and imports remain equal (the balance of trade and payments is in equilibrium). Now suppose, first, that export prices have risen by 10 percent and export quantities have fallen by 10 percent. Obviously, the country is better off (real national income is larger) than before, because it buys the same imports with smaller exports. The direction in the welfare change is correctly indicated by an improvement in the commodity terms of trade, while the income terms of trade  $(\frac{Q_e P_e}{P})$  indicate no change (the rise in  $P_e$  cancels out the fall in

 $Q_e$ ).

Suppose, secondly, that export prices have fallen by 10 percent and export quantities have grown by 10 percent. The country is now worse off than before because for the same imports it must export (give away) larger quantities of goods. The commodity terms of trade indicate, correctly, a deterioration while the income terms of trade register no change. Thus the commodity terms of trade would seem to be a better indicator of the welfare implications of international trade. But it must not be assumed that every improvement in the commodity terms of trade signifies that the country is better off, and every deterioration that the country is worse off—even if there has been no change in productivity (production function) or in overall employment and output.

We have to distinguish between (a) changes in the terms of trade of a country which result from changes in foreign demand (shift, for any reason, in the foreign reciprocal demand or offer curve) and (b) changes resulting from a shift in the country's own reciprocal demand or offer curve.

Any improvement in the terms of trade which results from a change in foreign demand is favorable, provided full employment and production can be maintained.<sup>6</sup>

Similarly, a deterioration of the terms of trade resulting from a contraction of foreign demand leaves the country worse off than before.

On the other hand, a change in the terms of trade of a country resulting from a shift of the country's own offer curve cannot be unambiguously judged as good or bad according to the direction of the change, even if full employment is maintained continuously. Consider, for example, the case in which a country "improves" its terms of trade de-

<sup>6</sup> If this condition is not fulfilled, it is, e.g., possible that an improvement of the terms of trade resulting from cheaper imports might lead to widespread unemployment in the import competing industries and thus in a deterioration of the overall position. It has been said that this was the case in Great Britain during the 1930's when her terms of trade improved sharply.

liberately by restricting its imports (or exports) by means of tariffs or other measures of trade restriction, assuming, of course, that foreign demand is not perfectly elastic (in which case a restriction of imports would not improve the terms of trade) and that the import restrictions on the part of the country in question are not countered by retaliatory restrictions on the part of other countries.

It is generally agreed that up to a point—"the optimum tariff level" —such a policy will improve the country's economic welfare, the precise position of the optimum depending on certain elasticities." But it is equally well known that beyond the optimum tariff point any further restriction of trade, although it will further "improve" the terms of trade, will nevertheless reduce economic welfare. Just as the optimum price of a monopolist, i.e., the price which maximizes the monopolist's income, is not the highest price the monopolist is able to charge, the optimum terms of trade which maximize national income are not the highest price of exports in terms of imports. In other words, the terms of trade should be optimized not maximized. This can also be expressed by saying that beyond a certain point the favorable effect on welfare resulting from better terms of trade is compensated and overcompensated by a fall in volume of trade.<sup>8</sup>

We have here a clear case where an "improvement" in the terms of trade marks a deterioration in economic welfare; and a "deterioration" in the terms of trade signifies an improvement in economic welfare.

<sup>7</sup> For further remarks on the theory of "the optimum tariff" see Section VI below.

<sup>8</sup> It follows that it is correct to say that for a complete evaluation of the welfare implications of trade it is not enough to pay attention to the terms of trade; quantities must also be considered. But it does not follow that the task can be accomplished simply by putting  $Q_{\circ}$  in the formula; in other words, by substituting the income terms of trade for commodity terms of trade.

The term "income terms of trade" or "index of export gains from trade" is misleading. It is better to regard the same measure as an index of the "capacity to import" as the *Economic Commission for Latin America* does. (See their *Economic Survey of Latin America* 1949). This becomes clear if we reflect that the "income terms of trade" is the same thing as value of exports deflated by import prices; in other words, the quantity of imports bought by exports. It should not be forgotten, however, that the "capacity to import" also depends on net capital imports and interest payments.

### V. The Balance of Payments Mechanism

#### 1. The Balance of Payments and National Income

The theory of the adjustment mechanism of the balance of payments is as old as economic theory itself. Concerning the history of doctrines the reader is referred to the well known books by Angell, Iversen, Viner, and Wu.

Much like the monetary disturbances following the Napoleonic wars, the severe balance of payments crisis during the inflation period after World War I, and those caused by the "Great Depression" of 1929-1932 have all done much to stimulate theoretical thinking in this area. After World War II, prolonged balance of payments difficulties of most countries, excepting the United States, Switzerland and a few others the so-called "structural Dollar shortage," which according to many writers had really started long before the war—have again given a strong impetus to further theoretical and empirical research in the mechanism of adjustment of the balance of payments. The "reverse Dollar problem," the Dollar "glut" or "surplus," which became clearly visible in 1958 has not yet given rise to further innovations and improvements in theoretical analysis. But it can probably be said, without exaggeration, that during the last thirty years the theory has advanced as much as during all of the 200 years which preceded them.

By the balance of payments of a country is meant the statistical record in balance-sheet form, of all its economic transactions during a certain period of time. Depending on the purpose, such a balance sheet may be drawn up in many different ways. In its usual form, the balance distinguishes between items on current and on capital account. The former lists all kinds of exports and imports of goods and services, interest and divided payments, private gifts, and so on. The capital balance, on the other hand, is subdivided into long- and short-term capital transfers—the import and export of all kinds of debt instruments as well as of corporate stocks—and imports and exports of monetary gold. Reparations and other unilateral transfers, such as Marshall aid, are best listed separately. This, however, is all purely a matter of convenience and no one particular arrangement of these accounts should be considered the "best" or the only "correct" one for every conceivable purpose.

By a *deficit* or *surplus* in the balance of payments is usually meant gold movements plus "accommodating" capital movements; that is, capital movements that are induced by balance of payments conditions and loans given or taken for the specific purpose of equalizing the payments balance. It is not always easy to distinguish between autonomous or spontaneous as against accommodating or induced capital movements or loans. But while the precise formulation of these concepts is difficult, we can console ourselves with the knowledge that as a rule it is easy to diagnose in actual practice a disequilibrium in the balance of payments, that is, the existence of a deficit or a surplus.<sup>1</sup>

Before describing the mechanism of adjustment of the balance of payments we shall briefly indicate how the balance of payments fits into the national income accounts. In a closed or isolated economy, national income (Y) = consumption (C) + (net) investment (I). But if a country's economy is part of the network of world trade then I must be divided into domestic investment (I<sub>d</sub>) and foreign investment (I<sub>f</sub>). I<sub>d</sub>, the volume of domestic investment, corresponds to the positive or negative addition to the real capital stock: plant and equipment, buildings of all description, consumer durables inventories, etc. I<sub>f</sub>, the volume of foreign investment, is equal to the increase or decrease in the country's total foreign investment (change in its net debtor or creditor position) through lending, borrowing and repayments, excluding changes through default or capital gains and losses.

Now, let the value of all exports (including services such as shipping, insurance, tourist expenditure, traders' commission) be X, and the value of all imports similarly defined be M; let D be the amount of income from foreign investments (interest and dividend payments, etc.); and let R be the amount of reparations, gifts,<sup>2</sup> etc., received. Then,  $I_t = X - M + D + R$ . Of course, D, R, I, and  $I_d$ , can be either positive or negative. Changes in the stock of monetary gold (excluding those resulting from home production) would be counted under  $I_t$ , for if we include them under  $I_d$ , then X and M would have to be defined as including imports or exports of monetary gold, which for most purposes is not advisable.

Our definition of national income thus becomes  $Y = C + I_d + X - M + D + R$ . It must be emphasized, however, that in our equation

<sup>1</sup> Sometimes a distinction is made between the balance of payments in the *ex ante* and *ex post* sense. It is then said that in the *ex post* or "accounting" or "statistical" sense the balance must always balance. This only means that in a balance sheet, purely as a matter of double-entry bookkeeping convention, the two sides are always made equal by putting the difference, under a suitable heading, on the smaller side. It does not mean that *ex post* there can be no deficit or surplus.

Machlup in an article in the *Economic Journal*, March 1950 distinguishes three concepts, "the market balance of payments," "the programme balance of payments," and "the accounting balance of payments." For theoretical purposes the balance as defined in the text would seem to be sufficient.

<sup>2</sup> Investment income is often included among services, that is to say, it is construed as payment for capital services. For many purposes it is, however, convenient to have the somewhat more elaborate terminology which we here propose distinguishing services proper from investment income and unilateral transfers such as reparations and gifts. But let it be emphasized once more that there is nothing sacrosanct about any classification. It is entirely a matter of convenience depending upon the theoretical or practical problem at hand. consumption (C) and domestic investment  $(I_d)$  are defined so as to include *imported* consumption and investment goods. In the theoretical literature, on the other hand, C and  $I_d$  are frequently defined as home *produced* consumption and investment goods. It is difficult, however, to implement the latter distinction statistically.

In an isolated economy, *national income*, *volume of production* and *total expenditures* on goods and services (or to use a cumbersome though more descriptive phrase: Sum total or money value of goods available for consumption and investment) are identical. In an open economy, however, this is not the case. For example, if a country receives income from foreign investments or reparation payments,<sup>8</sup> then its volume of production (P) is smaller than its national income;  $P = Y - (D + R) = C + I_d + X - M$ .

It is of particular importance to distinguish between national income (Y), on the one hand, and total expenditures on consumption and investment goods (V), on the other.<sup>4</sup> If, for example, a country increases its imports by borrowing from abroad (capital imports), either for purposes of consumption or investment, or if the country accepts foreign aid (R), its real expenditure increases; that is, more can be consumed and/or invested than before, but its national income remains constant. These relations can be written:  $V = C + I_d = Y - (X - M + D + R) = P - X + M$ .

It should furthermore be noted that the concept of national income is in one respect less clearcut than that of either expenditure (absorption) or volume of production, for it depends on how R is defined and this is frequently quite arbitrary. American aid to Europe, for example, was in large measure legally a gift and only partly a loan. According to our formula, each portion would have to be treated differently; for a loan is part of the national income of the country extending it, while a gift would have to be deducted. It would, of course, be possible to define the concept in such a way that gifts would be added to the income of the country making them while excluding them from the income of

<sup>8</sup> Interest and dividends are always added to the receiving country's national income and deducted from the paying country's income. In the case of reparations or foreign aid there is no generally accepted practice. They can be looked on as a part of the paying or of the receiving country's national income. But it is clear that these items belong to the paying country's volume of production and constitute additions to the resources available for consumption and investment (total expenditure) in the receiving country.

<sup>4</sup> In the literature different terms have been used to designate what we call "total expenditure." Ohlin speaks of "buying power" and Viner (*Studies*) of "value of final purchases." Still another term has been introduced recently—"Absorption" (Alexander); the economy "absorbs" a certain amount of consumption and investment goods. There may be slight deviations in the precise definition of these terms by the different writers, but they clearly aim at the same thing: A sort of corrected national income, national income gross of foreign lending and foreign aid. This is, of course, a different kind of "grossness" from that of Gross National Product. the recipient country. But it seems arbitrary to treat aid and reparation payments differently from interest and dividends. The latter are always treated as belonging to the income of the receiving party. Hence, if reparations are funded (as the German reparations were through the Dawes and Young loans) and reparations assume the form of interest payments, they would be treated differently in income accounting than before.

It would be easy to list further cases in which more or less arbitrary decisions and distinctions have to be made and where it is not easy to follow a clear line which does not lead to inconsistencies. But the instances mentioned should be sufficient. It cannot be emphasized strongly enough that there is nothing sacrosanct about any classification. Different classifications and definitions can be justified for different purposes.

#### 2. Price and Income Effects in the Mechanism

We turn now to a discussion of the balance of payments mechanism. Broadly speaking three methods for reestablishing equilibrium in the balance of payments can be distinguished: (a) the gold standard method—the system of stable exchange rates; (b) fluctuating exchange rates, that is, the devaluation of the currency of a deficit country and the appreciation of the currency of the surplus country; (c) exchange control, that is, direct, quantitative regulations of trade and payments.<sup>5</sup>

Under the gold standard method the rate of exchange remains stable and a smooth functioning of the mechanism requires flexibility of prices and wages in the national currency. Under flexible exchange rates the national price *levels* can remain unchanged within a country while the exchange rate adjusts itself, thereby changing relative price levels as between countries. It should be noted, however, that *relative* prices in each country of different groups of commodities, such as import goods, export goods, domestic (non-traded) goods, will usually have to change in the process of adjustment, even if the general price *level*—in some meaning of the term—remains unchanged.

The advantages and disadvantages of stable versus flexible exchange rates will not be discussed in this paper. We shall deal exclusively with the pure theory of the mechanism under the assumption of flexible prices and wages and of variable rates of exchange. Moreover, we shall abstract from disturbing speculative capital movements, although the danger of such movements constitutes, rightly or wrongly, one of the main arguments against the system of flexible exchange rates. Under

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> For practical purposes a great variety of subdivisions and mixed cases would have to be distinguished, and from the practical-political point of view the difference between subdivisions belonging to the same analytical category may in some cases be greater than the difference between subdivisions belonging to different categories.

these assumptions, the theory developed for the case of flexible exchange rates also applies to the case of stable exchange rates.<sup>6</sup>

Let us assume that a sum of \$100 million is to be transferred from A to B. Perhaps A has to pay reparations, or A wants to invest these funds in B, or A has to get rid of a deficit which has previously been met by outflows of gold, *ad hoc* credits, or gifts.<sup>7</sup> In each case A has to increase its exports and/or decrease its imports; in other words, assuming unchanged employment, A's "real expenditure" or "absorption" has to be reduced.<sup>8</sup> The only condition under which it would be conceivable for A to import less, export more and simultaneously increase its consumption and investment ("have its cake and eat it too") would be, if the transfer led to an increase in the level of employment from a position of severe unemployment. Under full employment no such miracle is possible.<sup>9</sup>

Let us assume that a decrease of expenditure in A and an increase in B is effected by raising taxes and restricting credit in the first country and by lowering taxes and easing credit in the second. Such an income or expenditure effect would improve the balance of payments of A by an amount which would depend on the *marginal propensity to import*.

The concept of the marginal propensity to import, developed out of Keynesian theory,<sup>10</sup> is analogous to the marginal propensity to consume

<sup>6</sup> The distinction between (a) "the method of the adjustable peg," under which the exchange rate is rigidly pegged to a certain level which is occasionally adjusted, and (b) the system of freely floating or fluctuating exchange rates, under which the rate is allowed to fluctuate continuously in a free market, will not be discussed in the present paper although it is extremely important from a practical standpoint.

<sup>7</sup> From a more practical standpoint than the one here adopted, where we are interested only in the theoretical skeleton, there may be a world of difference between the examples mentioned.

<sup>8</sup> Here the previously mentioned distinction between real expenditure and real income is essential. If a country counteracts *ad hoc* borrowing or gold loss by increasing its expenditure ("absorption") ( $C + I_a$ ) does go down.

<sup>9</sup> While in monetary terms total expenditure ("absorption") has to be reduced by \$100 million in order to bring about a transfer of \$100 million, the change in "real" expenditure may be more or less (even if there is no employment effect), if the terms of trade are changed in the process of the transfer. If the terms of trade improve, the real burden is lightened; if they deteriorate, the real burden is increased. The change in the real burden through a change in the terms of trade, sometimes called the "secondary" burden, has received a great deal of attention in the literature.

<sup>10</sup> Although the phrase "propensity to import" is of post-Keynesian vintage—F. W. Paish seems to have been the first to use it—the substance is by no means missing from the pre-Keynesian literature. Ohlin introduced expenditure effects in the German Reparations debate, being then more Keynesian than his antagonist—Keynes himself. As noted above, the concept "buying power" which Ohlin uses in his *Interregional and International Trade* is equivalent to real expenditure. And Viner in his *Studies* uses the term "final purchases" which, too, is equivalent to total expenditure. His table on the effects of international transfers on p. 370 im-

and can be defined as  $m = \frac{\Delta M}{\Delta Y}$  or  $\frac{\Delta M}{\Delta V}$ . Brief mention should be made of the distinction between marginal propensity, average propensity, and

the income (as distinguished from the price) elasticity  $(\delta)$  of demand for import goods. These three magnitudes are related in the following way:

$$\delta = \frac{\text{marginal propensity to import}}{\text{average propensity to import}} = \frac{\Delta M}{\Delta Y} \cdot \frac{Y}{M}$$

Let us return to the case where \$100 million have to be transferred from A to B. Assume first that the marginal propensity to import of A,  $m_A = \frac{1}{3}$  and that of B,  $m_B = \frac{9}{3}$ , their sum being exactly equal to unity. In this case, after A's total expenditure has been reduced by \$100 million and that of B increased by \$100 million, A will import \$33<sup>\*</sup>/<sub>3</sub> million less, and B \$66<sup>\*</sup>/<sub>3</sub> million more. The balance of payments will improve for A by just \$100 million, and thus be in equilibrium. Income effects are just sufficient to restore equilibrium.

It is generally assumed that m is so small for most countries that it is likely that  $m_A + m_B < 1$ . It can easily be calculated that under such conditions the direct income effects are too weak to reestablish equilibrium in the balance of payments. However, if we assume the opposite, though unlikely, case where  $m_A + m_B > 1$ , the direct income effects would be so strong that the disequilibrium would be overcompensated; the balance of payments would turn in favor of the paying country and show a deficit for the receiving country.

Let us go back to the more likely case where  $m_A + m_B < 1$ . The income effect is not strong enough to eliminate the deficit completely and price effects have to be invoked in order to bring about a full adjustment. Under the gold standard, gold would flow from A to B and prices and wages would fall in A and rise in B, both movements operating in an equilibrating manner. If wages in A should be rigid, unemployment would result. In other words, in this event *employment effects* would strengthen the income effect.<sup>11</sup> Although undesirable, such employment effects tend to hasten the restoration of equilibrium in the balance of payments. It would be wrong, however, or at least imply a gross exaggeration, to attribute the smoothness with which the gold standard functioned before 1914 to the fact that it operated entirely or predominantly by means of undesirable employment effects. With flexible wages and prices the gold mechanism operates, if expenditure effects

plies the assumption of a constant average propensity to import. Imports are assumed to be a constant fraction of total expenditure.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Alternatively, we may distinguish between income changes (or better, expenditure changes) due to the transfer of reparations, foreign aid and the like, and such changes due to variations in the level of employment. A third category of income changes relevant for the balance of payments mechanism is those produced by changes in the terms of trade.

are insufficient, through price effects without changes in employment. It is true, however, that with price and wage rigidity it will be easier to bring about the necessary price adjustments through a devaluation of A's currency in terms of B's.

The problem of the influence of a currency devaluation on the balance of payments and the real terms of trade has been extensively discussed during the last twenty years; this is in sharp contrast to the previous literature, which was almost devoid of such discussion. It should be observed, however, that on the level of abstraction of the present essay (disregarding rigidities as well as disturbances caused by speculation and expectations) the price effects produced by the gold standard mechanism and by changes in the exchange rate are the same; similarly the elasticity conditions discussed below apply to both institutional arrangements.

The conditions under which a *currency devaluation* would lead to an improvement in the balance of payments in the devaluing country were derived and have been discussed by Lerner, Robinson, Metzler, Meade, Stackelberg, and others. The result to be expected from an alteration in the exchange rate depends on the elasticities of demand in each country for the export goods of the other country, as well as on the elasticities of the corresponding supplies. As mentioned previously (see Section II above), these curves which relate the unit money price of exports and imports to the quantities demanded and supplied must be distinguished from the Marshallian reciprocal demand and supply curves which relate the total quantities where the price is the real terms of trade and not the price in terms of money.12

<sup>12</sup> Some writers, notably Viner, have raised fundamental objections against the use of curves of this type and their elasticities on the ground that it involves the application of partial equilibrium analysis to a problem which is essentially of a general equilibrium nature. In other words it is illegitimate to assume that demand for imports is "independent of what happens to exports" and supply of exports is "independent of what happens to imports" (Viner) This is a weighty issue and it cannot be settled here. Only a few remarks will

be offered.

Let us start from the fact that a 20 percent depreciation of a country's currency is theoretically equivalent to a 20 percent uniform import duty plus a 20 percent uniform export subsidy.

Consider first the duty in isolation. Surely it is standard practice of economic analysis to say that the influence of the duty on the average price and the value of imports depends on the elasticity of demand and the elasticity of foreign supplyalthough individual import commodities may be related to one another as complements or substitutes so that the total elasticities are not simply averages of the elasticities of demand for each commodity under the assumption that nothing else (including the price of other import goods) has changed. These things are somehow supposed to have been taken care of by the method of aggregation.

The same considerations apply to the influence of an equal, uniform ad valorem export subsidy.

Can we simply add the result of both and say that it measures the result of the devaluation? Strictly speaking not, because there may be relationships between inIt can be shown that a currency devaluation always improves the balance of payments of the devaluing country if the sum of the elasticities of the country's demand for its imports and of the foreign demand for its exports is greater than unity. If this sum is smaller than unity, then devaluation results in a worsening of the balance of payments and we are dealing with a case of unstable equilibrium in the foreign exchange market.<sup>13</sup>

Let us think for a moment of the exchange market as a market in which the foreign currency, say the pound, is demanded and supplied in terms of the home currency, say dollars. A demand curve for pounds in dollars confronts a supply curve for pounds in dollars. Parenthetically, it should be remembered that the demand curve for pounds in terms of dollars must be distinguished from the American demand curve for imports from Britain. The demand for foreign currency is, however, derived from the demand for foreign goods. And the elasticity of the

dividual import and export goods so that their respective demands and supplies are not entirely independent. For example, imports may significantly enter exports as raw materials. Hence, when imported raw materials rise in price after a devaluation the export supply curve is shifted up.

Again such interrelations must be supposed to average out or else to be allowed for in the method of aggregation.

It is possible to adopt a skeptical and dim view of our ability to allow for such complications. Quite a few writers have taken this position and quite consistently have rejected what they call excessive aggregation—in theory at least, while in their actual practice of theoretical analysis they usually disregard their own methodological preaching and resort to aggregative reasoning. How much aggregation is permissible cannot be decided on *a priori* grounds. It would seem, however, that the degree of aggregation involved in our particular instance is not obviously greater than that which one often finds in economics, for example where we speak of demand by industry for agricultural products or of the supply of labor or saving and the like.

Apart from such connections between demand and supply of individual import and export commodities, there is the broader nexus through the monetary mechanism, through incomes and expenditures. Unless monetary expansion nullifies the effects of devaluation, real expenditure must fall (because the export volume rises and the import volume falls). These expenditure changes shift the demand and supply curves of exports and imports. But this aspect of the matter we have discussed under the heading of income or expenditure effects.

In conclusion it may be pointed out that the Marshallian reciprocal demand and supply curves are not suitable instruments for analyzing the problem of how a depreciation influences the balance of payments. Points on the Marshallian curves are possible equilibrium positions with exports equal to imports. It is true these curves can also be used to find the equilibrium position under the conditions of a *preassigned* trade gap in *real* terms. But this is not the problem in our present context.

<sup>13</sup> To be precise: The condition that the sum of the two demand elasticities is greater than unity is a *sufficient*, but not a *necessary* condition for the balance of payments to improve, that is to say, to react "normally" rather than "perversely" to a depreciation. Even if this sum were smaller than unity, the balance of payments could still improve provided the supply elasticities are sufficiently small.

currency curves can be computed from the elasticities of the demand and supply curves of imports and exports.<sup>14</sup>

If the demand curve and supply curve of pounds have their ordinary shape, the former sloping down from left to right, the latter sloping up from left to right, the market is in stable equilibrium. If, however, the supply curve, too, slopes down from left to right (if it "bends back") and is flatter than the demand curve (that is, cuts the latter "from below") the equilibrium is unstable. In that case, if demand exceeds supply (a deficit in the balance) and the price (the value of pound in dollars) rises, the excess demand (deficit) instead of becoming smaller as in the stable case will become even larger and the price will be driven up still higher.

Now, it can be shown that whenever the sum of the elasticities of the demand for exports and the demand for imports is greater than unity, there is stable equilibrium in the exchange market; that is to say, the supply curve of pounds cuts the demand curve of pounds from above—the supply curve is steeper than the demand curve. Instability would obtain if the sum of the elasticities of demand for exports and imports were sufficiently smaller than unity, how much smaller depending on the elasticities of supply of exports and imports.

In the older literature, until the 1930's and apart from a few hints in theoretical writings, stability in the exchange market was taken for granted. It was only in the period after World War II that a condition of unstable equilibrium was considered by many writers a common phenomenon. This "elasticity pessimism" was supported by numerous attempts at statistical measurement, which in most cases have arrived at very low estimated elasticities. However, Harberger, Machlup, and Orcutt have shown convincingly that the statistical methods (least square methods) used in these researches are biased and result in a strong and systematic underestimation of the actual elasticities. Indeed, as some of the errors have been gradually eliminated, the statistical estimates of elasticities have tended to increase steadily. Today most economists are convinced that the actual elasticities are in practice always sufficiently large to guarantee stable equilibrium in the balance of payments, except perhaps in the very short run and under very unusual circumstances, which may exist in highly specialized raw materialproducing countries during depression periods. Alfred Marshall, who generally exercised great caution in such questions and never jumped to hasty conclusions, stated very emphatically: "It is practically certain that in the Ricardian example and under modern industrial conditions the total demand of each of the two countries for each other's goods is relatively elastic. And where a large and rich commercial country con-

<sup>14</sup> It goes without saying that the demand curve for pounds in terms of dollars can be translated into a supply curve of dollars in terms of pounds; and similarly the supply curve of pounds into a demand curve for dollars.

fronts the rest of the world, this assumption becomes absolutely certain.<sup>375</sup> The more diversified the economy of a country the larger will be the range of its actual and potential import and export commodities and the more rapid and smooth the adjustment. The stronger the competition of other countries, the greater the elasticities of demand for the exports of any one country and the less likely the existence of unstable equilibria.

It is, however, not difficult to understand how the appearance to the contrary may easily be created; in other words how one can get the impression that elasticities are often low and the equilibrium of the balance of payments unstable. The reason is that there is often great danger that the favorable effects of a devaluation on the balance of payments will be jeopardized by incautious wage and credit policies. Pressure in this direction is strong because under full employment an improvement in the balance of payments, as shown above, is necessarily accompanied by a painful reduction in consumption or investment ("absorption" or "total expenditure"). Under modern conditions, the temptation is strong to avoid this, as well as transitional unemployment which may be necessary, by means of government spending, liberal credit policies and wage increases. This sort of policy will, of course, immediately result in a renewed worsening in the balance of payments. This can be expressed by saying that an upward, or downward, shift in  $\checkmark$ an elastic curve creates the erroneous impression that the curve is inelastic.

While it thus can be taken for granted that a currency devaluation will result in an improvement of the balance of payments provided total expenditure is not allowed to expand, it is by no means equally certain that the terms of trade will be shifted in any particular direction or that they will change at all. Hinshaw, following Graham, has shown this very clearly.

It is tempting to jump to the conclusion, and as a matter of fact it is frequently assumed as self-evident, that a currency devaluation must lead to a worsening in the real terms of trade for the devaluing country, implying of course an improvement of the terms of trade for the country whose currency has appreciated. If the French franc is devalued relative to the dollar, French brandy becomes cheaper for Americans and American cotton more expensive for Frenchmen and that seems to imply that France's terms of trade have deteriorated. Such an argument, however, is based on the fallacious method of comparing cotton prices

<sup>15</sup> Alfred Marshall, *Money, Credit and Commerce*, 1923, p. 171. On page 354 of the same book, he says: "Nothing approaching to this [unstable equilibrium] has ever occurred in the real world; it is not inconceivable, but it is absolutely impossible." It is true that in the quoted passages Marshall referred to his reciprocal demand and supply curves and the "real" equilibrium. But it would seem to be permissible to transpose his statement to the monetary sphere. in francs with brandy prices in dollars. Obviously, export and import prices must be compared in terms of the same monetary units (it does not matter which one) in order to find the real terms of trade. In fact, both brandy and cotton prices will rise in terms of francs and both fall in terms of dollars. The real terms of trade worsen for France and improve for the United States if, in terms of francs, the cotton price rises more or, in terms of dollars, falls less than the price for brandy. Whether this will happen depends in turn on the elasticities of demand and supply. It is, *a priori*, no more probable that the real terms of trade will worsen than that they will improve for the devaluing country. It is not at all improbable that both the balance of payments and the real terms of trade would improve.

To visualize that as a consequence of a devaluation the terms of trade may improve, deteriorate or remain unchanged while the balance of payments improves, it may help if we once more reflect that a currency devaluation of, say, 30 percent is analytically equivalent to a uniform import duty of 30 percent on all imports (including services) plus a uniform export subsidy of 30 percent on all exports.<sup>16</sup> Now, it is clear that a tariff alone will improve the terms of trade. A subsidy alone will make them worse. The result of their combined effect depends on the relative strength of their separate effects about which it is impossible to establish any plausible *a priori* presumption.

As to the balance of payments, the situation is different: a general tariff obviously improves it; a general export subsidy too will improve it, except where the foreign demand for the devaluing country's exports is inelastic.<sup>17</sup> Hence, it is very probable that their combined effect will be an improvement of the balance of payments.

<sup>16</sup> From a practical, administrative standpoint there is of course no equivalence between the two schemes and from the point of view of economic policy the uniform tariff-cum-subsidy scheme is simply not feasible as a substitute for devaluation, although it was actually proposed by Keynes and later by Hicks. The tariffcum-subsidy method leaves outstanding contracts unchanged, which was Keynes' motive for espousing it.

The reader will notice that there are further complications if exports are not equal to imports, because then the duties collected are not equal to the subsidies due. In that case the elasticity conditions, mentioned above, for the balance of payments to improve after a devaluation, must also be slightly modified.

<sup>17</sup> The balance of payments will improve, if demand elasticities are large enough  $(\eta_x + \eta_m > 1)$ . This is almost certain to be the case. It should be remembered that this is a sufficient, not a necessary condition.

The terms of trade will deteriorate (improve) if the product of the supply elasticities ( $\epsilon_{sem}$ ) is greater (smaller) than the product of the two demand elasticities ( $\pi_{sma}$ ). Joan Robinson, to whom we owe that formula, has tried to show that elasticities are likely to be such that devaluation will result in a deterioration of the terms of trade. Her argument is, however, not at all convincing. It would seem that the outcome depends on the concrete structure of trade of the country concerned and that no sweeping generalizations are possible.

It can be shown that in the normal, stable case, in which the balance of pay-

The way in which a depreciation operates to improve the balance of payments can be briefly summarized as follows: In the devaluing country the prices both of export and of import goods will rise as compared with prices of domestic (not-traded) goods. This causes a shift in demand from internationally traded to domestic goods and a shift of production in the opposite direction. In the country whose currency has increased in value the prices of export and import goods will both 7 fall relative to those for domestic goods. This will tend to bring about a substitution in consumption and production of domestic for traded commodities in the opposite direction from those in the devaluing country. The magnitude of such shifts depends on the elasticity of substitution between foreign-traded and domestic goods. As can readily be seen, these shifts will result in an increase of the stream of goods from the depreciating to the appreciating country and a decrease of this stream in the opposite direction, thus restoring the balance to equilibrium. For this mechanism to function it clearly is necessary that aggregate domestic expenditure in the depreciating country be kept constant or possibly reduced. If, pari passu with the depreciation and the rise in prices of export and import goods, aggregate expenditures are allowed to expand-if, in other words, depreciation is allowed to touch off an inflation of expenditure-depreciation will do no more than lead to an all-round rise in prices, leaving relative prices and the state of the balance of payments where they were before.

#### 3. The Foreign Trade Multiplier

The above sketch deals with the pure and essentially static theory of the balance of payments mechanism.<sup>18</sup> Before it can be applied, the theory obviously has to be supplemented and expanded in various directions by dropping simplifying assumptions and introducing historical and institutional details, complications through rigidities, speculation and the like. Here, however, is not the place to undertake that job.

ments improves after devaluation, the terms of trade may improve or deteriorate. However, in the abnormal, unstable case, when the balance of payments deteriorates, the terms of trade too will deteriorate for the depreciating country.

<sup>18</sup> This theory runs in terms of interacting price and income (or expenditure) effects; price elasticities as well as income (or expenditure) propensities play a role in the mechanism. The theory has been worked out most fully by Meade in *The Balance of Payments*.

Another approach, the so-called "income absorption approach" has been proposed by S. Alexander, in his "Effects of a Devaluation on the Trade Balance," in International Monetary Fund Staff Papers, Vol. II, April 1952. As pointed out earlier, "absorption" is another term for expenditure. The "income absorption" approach is therefore another version of an income-expenditure analysis. Criticizing Alexander, Machlup has shown convincingly that price effects and elasticities are just as indispensable as expenditure effects and propensities to spend and "absorb," in "Relative Prices and Aggregate Spending in the Analysis of Devaluation," American Economic Review, June 1955. We shall add only a brief account of a modest attempt to dynamize the theory of the balance of payments mechanism by means of the *foreign trade multiplier*. This theory grew out of the Keynesian system but was not developed by Keynes himself.

The dynamic version of the foreign trade multiplier is primarily the work of Machlup and Metzler. On the other hand, Harrod, to whom we are indebted for one of the first treatments of this subject, as well as Meade, developed the static version. Static theory describes and compares equilibrium conditions at different times ("comparative statics"). Dynamic theory examines the transition or movement from one equilibrium to another.

The concept of the foreign trade multiplier represents an application of the theory of the general multiplier in a closed economy to the problems of an open one. We are not dealing here with a general equilibrium theory. Multiplier theory deals only with one part of the general system and does so under greatly simplified assumptions. Its area of applicability is thus greatly restricted.

Machlup's and Metzler's dynamic models make the following assumptions: (a) All prices, including the rates of exchange and interest rates, remain unchanged; in other words, constant marginal costs are assumed and this presupposes general unemployment. This is therefore strictly depression economics and its policy implications—if one has the courage to apply such a simplified and unfinished theory—have a strong mercantilistic flavor. (b) The possibility of unlimited financing of deficits exists; that is, each country is prepared to accumulate unlimited balances in each of the other countries: (c) The marginal propensity to import, as well as the marginal propensity to consume, is constant. It would of course be possible to relax some of these rather heroic simplifications. But the further one departs from them the more complicated becomes the theory and the more uncertain the results.

In these models, the propensity to consume is defined with a time lag: Imports during the period t depend on the income (or expenditure) of the preceding period:

$$m = \frac{M_t}{Y_{t-1}}$$

As is well known, the theory of the (investment) multiplier for a closed economy states that with a given marginal propensity to consume of smaller than unity, a stream of "primary" expenditures of 10 dollars per unit of time would finally increase national income by  $\frac{10}{1-c}$ . The multiplier is  $\frac{1}{1-c}$  or  $\frac{1}{s}$  (s = 1 - c, being the marginal propensity to save). The smaller is s, or the larger is c, the greater will be the multiplier.<sup>19</sup> This assumes that out of each additional income, a

 $^{19}$  If c>1, the equilibrium would be unstable; any additional expenditure would draw an ever increasing stream of induced expenditures in its wake.

fraction (c) will be spent and the remaining fraction (s) saved. The amounts saved are considered as "leakages."

In an open economy, expenditures on imports must be added as a third kind of expenditure out of income. Thus, income or money "leak" out of circulation not only through savings but also through imports. In other words, out of each additional income a fraction (c) is spent for domestic goods, a fraction (s) is saved, and a fraction (m) is imported (c + m + s = 1). The multiplier therefore becomes  $\frac{1}{s + m} = \frac{1}{1 - c}$  while the multiplicand now contains not only investment

 $\frac{1-c}{1-c}$  while the multiplicant now contains not only investment (including government deficits or all "autonomous" expenditure) but also exports:  $Y = I + X \frac{1}{s+m}$ .

The assumptions used can be varied in a number of ways and several refinements can be added.20 Only one such complication, namely that concerning the indirect effects of an increase or decrease of exports, will be mentioned here as an example. Let us assume that country A launches an investment program of \$10 million per month. If the marginal propensity to save is 1%, in a closed economy the multiplier would be  $\frac{1}{1_0} = 3$  and A's income would ultimately increase by \$30 million per month. If we assume, on the other hand, that we are dealing with an open economy and m =  $\frac{1}{2}$ , then the multiplier would be  $\frac{1}{1/2} + \frac{1}{1/2} = 2$ . Income will now increase by only \$20 million since a greater part of the investment expenditures than before will "leak out." If A is a small country relative to the rest of the world, nothing further need be said as far as multiplier theory is concerned. If, however, A is important relative to the rest of the world, then it must not be forgotten that part of the amounts which have leaked abroad will flow back to A. As a rule, this will only be a fraction of the total leakage, their actual magnitude depending on the foreign c and m. The reason for such return flows is that B's economy will be stimulated by the increase of A's demand for B's products and will therefore, in turn, import more from A, thus benefiting A's export industries. Hence, what Metzler has called the "true multiplier" ("complete multiplier" might be a better term) will be greater than the foreign trade multiplier which ignores these indirect effects; but it will be smaller than the multiplier for a closed economy, because only a part of the import leakage will be restored through larger exports.

<sup>20</sup> See F. Machlup, International Trade and the National Income Multiplier, 1943. Metzler, in his review of Machlup's book (*Review of Economics and Statistics*, February 1945) gives a succinct summary of "the principal fruits of modern longrun income analysis" in this field. In applying multiplier theory to the reparations case ("periodic transfer of money incomes"), Metzler arrives at the following result: Money income in the transferring country will fall and it will rise in the receiving country; the balance of payments will shift in favor of the transferring country but by less than the amount transferred, regardless of the marginal propensity to import in the two countries.<sup>21</sup> It should also be noted here that under the assumptions of constant costs and prices underlying these models, real income and employment would parallel each other.

This result implies that the paying country indefinitely accumulates debit balances; in other words that income effects alone cannot bring about the transfer. In order to restore equilibrium in the balance of payments, price effects—a change in the exchange rate or inflation in the receiving and deflation in the paying country—must be invoked. This result seems to contradict our statement made earlier in connection with the static theory that if  $m_1 + m_2 > 1$ , the income effects will overadjust the balance of payments. The contradiction is, however, only apparent, not real. In the static theory we have quietly ruled out the possibility of money "leaks," or have assumed that in case of deflation (hoarding) all that happens is a fall in prices and wages leaving real income and employment unchanged. The Machlup-Metzler theory yields the same result as the static theory, if c is equal to unity in both countries; that is, if all of the income is spent and nothing is saved and hoarded.<sup>22</sup>

In summary we may say: Dynamic multiplier theory is superior to static and comparative static theory inasmuch as it describes the process leading to a new equilibrium while static theory confines itself to showing the end point of this process. However, on the level of refinement achieved so far in the dynamic theory the price, in the form of its sweeping simplifications, is extremely high. Not only are c and m assumed to be constant but the price effects as well as the changes in the rate of exchange are ignored. In addition, it is assumed that foreign lending adjusts itself passively to the balance of payments; this means that each country is prepared to grant and to accept loans, or to import and export gold, to an unlimited degree, and, moreover, that the volume of investment will be constant or that it is a linear function of income.

 $^{21}$  This applies under the assumption which is always made in models of this kind that c < 1 and m < 1. If c > 1, in a closed economy we would have an unstable equilibrium, since the expenditure of one additional unit of money would result in an infinite increase of incomes. In an open economy the import leakage will restore stability even when c > 1 if (1 - c + m) > o.

<sup>22</sup> This is not at all as improbable as it may seem at first glance if one considers that it actually does not depend on the marginal propensity to consume, but on the propensity to spend which is the propensity to consume plus the propensity to invest.

The propensity to invest, which assumes all or a part of investment expenditures as a linear function of income, should not be confused with the *acceleration principle*, according to which investment expenditures depend on the magnitude of the *change* in income. These simplifications must be considered thoroughly unrealistic. It would nevertheless be wrong to label the theory of the foreign trade multiplier as worthless. It is without question of some theoretical significance as a first step toward a general dynamic theory which would also include consideration of price effects.

Static theoretical models combining income and price effects, elasticities and propensities have been constructed by Meade, Laursen and Metzler, and Stolper. Moreover two ambitious attempts have been made by Neisser and Modigliani and by Polak to construct econometric models of this kind for an integrated world system—that is to say models based on actual statistical measures of the coefficients involved (price elasticities and income propensities) for many countries which describe in precise mathematical form the interaction of these various factors.

Nobody who has taken the trouble of familiarizing himself with this work can fail to admire the courage of these scholars, their ingenuity and the great intellectual effort involved. However, the difficulties of econometric model building for a single country (let alone for a multitude of countries or for the world as a whole) are so overwhelming and the pitfalls which beset this kind of work are so numerous and insidious<sup>23</sup> that, at the risk of giving the appearance of offering ungrateful and negative criticism, one cannot help having the gravest doubts concerning the concrete results of these two most impressive volumes.

#### 4. The Purchasing Power Parity Theory of Foreign Exchanges

The theories to be discussed in the present section—different versions of the "Purchasing Power Parity" (P.P.P.) doctrine—are less elegant, hence less popular with most theorists but more down to earth, than those discussed in the preceding sections. They run in terms of necessarily somewhat vague aggregates—purchasing power, price levels, degrees of inflationary pressure and the like. As the expression "purchasing power parity" suggests, the theory states, to give a brief preliminary explanation, that the equilibrium exchange rate between any two currencies is determined by, or tends to be equal to, the ratio of the internal purchasing power of the two monies (the reciprocal of some price level) in the respective countries.

The term P.P.P. was invented by Gustav Cassel who used the theory as a rough and ready explanation of the depreciation of the German mark and other European currencies after World War I. Actually, however, essentially the same type of reasoning was employed more than a hundred years ago by members of the classical English school to explain the discount of sterling during the Bank Restriction period, 1797-1821

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> Early hopes and enthusiasm have been dashed, partly by self-criticism of those involved in this kind of econometric work. For an earlier attempt at the construction of an international trade model the pitfalls have been pointed out by A. Harberger, "Pitfalls in Mathematical Model-Building," *American Economic Review*, December 1952, pp. 855-865.

---so called because the obligation of the Bank of England to pay cash (gold) was restricted. In fact, whenever a major currency was (or is) at a discount or under pressure (the country losing gold), we can find two types of explanation for this fact which we may call the balance of payments theory and the inflation theory respectively. The former explains the deficit in the balance or the depreciation of the currency, without (or with only minor and indirect) reference to inflation, price levels and money, by such factors as increased Government expenditures abroad for reparations or aid; loss of market of individual export industries; war losses of foreign investment, shipping; bad harvests, etc. The inflation theorist, on the other hand, speaks of general overvaluation of the currency due to inflationary pressure and of changes in the purchasing power of money; these magnitudes he defines in relative terms (compared with abroad) and he often supports his case by purchasing power parity calculations. On the policy level the balance of payments theorist usually recommends measures to influence individual items in the balance of payments while the inflation theorist urges monetary actiondisinflation in the deficit country, expansion in the surplus country or a change in the exchange rate.

However, the correlation between diagnosis and explanation, on the one hand, and therapy, on the other, need by no means be perfect. Even if one stresses adverse non-monetary factors operating on individual items of the balance of payments, such as increased Government expenditure abroad, one is not precluded from recommending disinflationary policy or currency devaluation to produce the required export surplus. And those who believe that inflationary pressure is at the root of the trouble may propose restrictions on imports to correct the imbalance, at least if it is not large.

The reader will have no difficulty in recognizing these two schools of thought in contemporary discussions of the dollar shortage and dollar glut. But it may be in order to present a few samples from the writings of classical English economists during the Bank Restriction period and earlier.

Hume had already stated that international trade brings "money to a common level in all countries, just as 'all water, whenever it communicates, remains always at a level.'" He declared that "level of money" must be interpreted as "its proportional level to the commodities, labor, industry, and skill, which is in the several states. And I assert that where these advantages are double, triple, quadruple, to what they are in the neighboring states, the money infallibly will also be double, triple, quadruple."<sup>24</sup>

Ricardo's views are well known. He held that "the exchange accurately measures the depreciation of the currency," he attributed the discount of sterling vis-à-vis gold to the "relative redundancy of currency" and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> See Essays, 1875 ed. I, 335-36 note. Quoted in Viner, Studies, p. 312.

stated that "by relative redundance then I mean, relative cheapness" of money.25

The famous Bullion Report expressed the theory this way: "... in the event of the prices of commodities being raised in one country by an augmentation of its circulating medium, while no similar augmentation in the circulating medium of a neighbouring country has led to a similar rise of prices, the currencies of those two countries will no longer continue to bear the same relative value to each other as before. The intrinsic value of ... the one currency being lessened, while that of the other remains unaltered, the Exchange will be . . . to the disadvantage of the former."26

From Henry Thornton comes this formulation: "... supposing an increase of paper to take place, and to augment the general price of commodities in exchange for that paper, it must also influence the state of the Exchanges, and raise the price of Bullion."27

All that looks to me—as it looked to others<sup>28</sup>—very much like modern purchasing power parity theory. To be sure, the vocabulary, style and precision of theorizing has greatly changed over a hundred years. There were no mathematical formulae in the old classical (or anti-classical) writings and no clear references to price indexes as mathematical averages of individual price changes.

The view that the modern P.P.P. theory is a reformulation or elaboration of the old classical "inflation" theory,29 has been challenged by Viner. He says that the P.P.P. theory "differs substantially from any version of the classical theory known to me."30 Viner's main reason is that the classical writers were either ignorant of, or rejected, the notion of a statistical average of prices or of price changes. It would be "anachronistic," he says, to impute such an idea to Hume or even to the "classical school as a whole," because Hume and many others wrote before serious attempts were made in England to measure price levels.

I cannot find this reasoning quite convincing because one can have a clear idea of a phenomenon before it has been measured and one can vaguely refer to something before anyone has given a precise defini-

<sup>25</sup> The quotations are from Ricardo's correspondence with Malthus who was a balance of payments theorist. See The Works and Correspondence of David Ricardo, edited by Piero Sraffa, Vol. VI, Letters, pp. 30, 36, 39 and passim. <sup>20</sup> See E. Cannan, The Paper Pound of 1797-1821, A Reprint of the Bullion Re-

port (1810), 2nd ed., London, 1925, p. 17. <sup>27</sup> From a speech in the House of Commons, May 7, 1811, reprinted in Hayek's

edition of H. Thornton's An Enquiry into the Nature and Effects of the Paper Credit of Great Britain, London, 1939, p. 329. <sup>28</sup> E.g. to J. W. Angell and C. Bresciani-Turroni.

<sup>29</sup> It is interesting that the word "inflation" was not used in the classical literature. But I don't believe that the designation of the old theory as inflation theory will be challenged on that ground. <sup>30</sup> Studies, p. 380.

tion.<sup>31</sup> On the other hand, I find Viner's strictures against the P.P.P. theory very convincing. But its seems to me that, in principle, the classical writers were subject to the same objections. They were shielded from such criticism only by the vagueness of their formulations. Is it not quite natural that an attempt at making a theory more precise and testable (or falsifiable) should throw into high relief all its weaknesses and shortcomings?

Let us now briefly analyze the precise meaning of the P.P.P. theory and the criticism to which it has been subjected. The theory is almost always stated in its comparative (rather than in absolute) form. That is to say, the theory asserts that the equilibrium exchange rate roughly moves parallel with the ratio of the movements in the two countries of the price levels over time (not that it is equal to the ratio of the price levels at any moment of time). Suppose that compared with a base year when the exchange rate was in equilibrium prices have doubled in country A and trebled in country B; then according to P.P.P. reasoning the equilibrium exchange rate (units of currency A exchanged pro unit of currency B) will have changed in the proportion 2:3. If the actual exchange rate is smaller (greater) than 2/3 of its original level, currency A is overvalued (undervalued), and currency B undervalued (overvalued). The equilibrium exchange rate is that rate which keeps the balance of payments in equilibrium. The price level that is meant is usually a general price level, either at wholesale or at retail ("consumer prices").32 General price levels in different countries are linked through the prices of internationally traded goods. Equilibrium requires that the price of each internationally traded commodity is the same in the export and import country if full allowance is made for transportation costs (comprehensively defined, including duties, taxes, special overhead costs of moving commodities, etc.).33 It seems to follow that the level of prices of internationally traded goods will roughly move parallel in two trading countries provided we assume that changes in transportation costs of different commodities cancel each other out in their effect on the price level. This condition may not be strictly fulfilled; but let us waive this possibility.34

<sup>31</sup> It is, of course, logically possible to define a concept and use it while at the same time holding that for *practical* reasons it cannot be measured. What I find difficult to swallow is the position of those who use a concept but insist that "for theoretical reasons" it is incapable of ever being measured under any circumstances.

<sup>32</sup> Sometimes the theory is stated in terms of export prices (Bresciani-Turroni) or in terms of "cost levels" which practically become wage levels (Brisman, Hansen).

<sup>33</sup> There are minor exceptions to this rule, some apparent, others real, e.g. in the case of discriminating monopoly.

<sup>34</sup> Strictly speaking the P.P.P. in terms of international prices will not be preserved even in the ideal case of perfect competition and zero transportation cost. Although every single international price must then be the same in each country, the average change of these identical prices will not be the same in both countries,

Now equality of international prices (allowing for transportation costs) is a necessary but clearly not a sufficient condition for international equilibrium. Even if there exists a large and prolonged deficit in a country's balance of payments and hence its currency is seriously overvalued, prices of internationally traded goods will not, or at least need not, show any deviation from the purchasing power par.<sup>35</sup> It has therefore been frequently suggested that the wholesale price index, which is heavily weighted with prices of internationally traded goods, is a poor guide for judging the existence and magnitude of a fundamental disequilibrium. For illustration, let me quote one case where the use of the wholesale price level has led policy astray. According to Keynes,36 when Britain returned to gold in 1924-1925, Churchill's experts "miscalculated the degree of the maladjustment of money values which would result from restoring sterling to its pre-war gold parity" by comparing the British and American wholesale price index. The result was that sterling was seriously overvalued and the British economy remained depressed throughout the 1920's.<sup>37</sup>

The moral may seem to be that we should use an index of domestic prices (cost of living) or of costs (wages) which do not adjust so quickly and would show a disparity if equilibrium has not been reached. But if we do that we run into other difficulties. True, at any moment of time, given the state of international demand, quantity of money, degree of employment, and so on in each country, there must exist a definite relationship between the price and cost levels (wage levels) of the two countries, which would assure equilibrium in the balance of payments.

But a brief reflection will show that the equilibrium price or cost relationship need not be the one which is postulated by the P.P.P. theory

if a weighted average is used and the weights are not the same in the two countries.

I am, however, not inclined to regard this difficulty, which has been noted by several authors (e.g., by Viner, *loc.cit.*, p. 383), as one of the serious objections to the P.P.P. theory. It could be easily overcome by using equal weights in the price index.

<sup>35</sup> According to Viner (*Studies*, p. 384), "The only necessary relationship between prices in different countries which the classical theory postulated . . . are the international uniformity of particular prices of commodities actually moving in international trade . . . after allowance for transportation costs . . ."

For reasons stated in the text, I would say that, if the classical writers did not want to say more than that individual prices of traded commodities tend to equality in different countries (if full allowance is made for transportation cost), their theory would be true enough, but not very useful for explaining the discount of sterling or determining equilibrium exchange rates. To me it seems clear that actually they said more; they spoke of "general prices," "intrinsic value of money" and the like—terms which I find impossible to interpret without reference to some price level.

<sup>36</sup> "The Economic Consequences of Mr. Churchill," in Essays in Persuasion, 1941, p. 249.

<sup>37</sup> Another case where exactly the same mistake was made was the devaluation of the Czechoslovakian crown in the early 1930's. (For details, see League of Nations, *Monetary Review*, Vol. I, 1935-36, p. 49 et seq., Geneva, 1936.)

-namely, parallel movement over time. Suppose country A exports industrial products to country B in exchange for food. Suppose further that in each country export prices are closely linked with the general price level because each country produces exports also for home consumption and factors of production can be easily shifted between the export industries and industries producing non-traded goods. Starting from an international equilibrium position, A's demand for B's exports rises for some reason which produces an improvement in B's terms of trade. In this case equilibrium clearly requires a deviation of the exchange rate from the purchasing power par: A's general price level and cost level must fall compared with B's general price and cost level because in each country the general price level is closely linked to the prices of the country's export goods and the prices of the two countries' exports have shifted one against the other (the terms of trade having changed). This change in P.P.P. can come about through an alteration in the exchange rate or with stable exchanges through a change in absolute prices in A and/or B.

Arguing along similar lines, several writers have concluded that the validity of the P.P.P. theory is confined to those cases in which the equilibrium terms of trade remain unchanged. But this need not always be the case. Suppose, for example, that in each country the general price level is closely linked with exports *and* import prices because each country has a substantial home production of the commodities which it imports. In that case, it seems that P.P.P. could be preserved even though the terms of trade have to change.<sup>38</sup>

It remains true, however, that there can be no assurance that the preservation of the purchasing power parity is compatible with equilibrium. Does it follow that the P.P.P. theory must be completely rejected? Many modern (and some not so modern) writers have drawn that conclusion. I am inclined, however, to agree with Metzler<sup>39</sup> an author who is steeped in, or almost addicted to, the "modern" theory of foreign exchanges (to which he has contributed so much), that the criticism of the parity theory can easily go too far. It is not a precise tool of analysis, and it fits poorly into the framework of the usual simplified theoretical models which work with two or three commodities only. But, if cautiously used, along with other evidence, P.P.P. calculations have considerable diagnostic value, especially in periods of severe inflation.

Finally, let us reflect for a moment on what the P.P.P. theory implies

<sup>28</sup> For the problem on hand as well as for others (e.g. for the related questions how the terms of trade are influenced by unilateral transfers or by currency depreciation) it matters a great deal whether one operates with a model (a) where there are only export and import goods (two-commodity model) or (b) a model with export, import and non-traded goods (four-commodity model) and how in each country export goods, import goods and non-traded goods are related to each other in production and consumption.

<sup>\$9</sup> In A Survey of Contemporary Economics (H. S. Ellis, ed.), p. 223.

for the shape of the demand and supply curves of one currency in terms of the other. Suppose the P.P.P. relation holds. This implies, it would seem, that demand and supply in the exchange market are highly elastic; hence demand and supply of exports and imports, too, must be highly elastic at the P.P.P. ratio. This has an important corollary. It seems that as a matter of fact under normal circumstances (i.e. when trade is not drastically controlled and regimented, and when the comparison is confined to periods that are not separated by great structural upheavals, e.g. prewar with postwar periods) the P.P.P. theory holds in an approximate fashion in the sense that it would hardly be possible to find under such circumstances a case where an equilibrium rate is, say, 15-20 percent off purchasing power par. If this is so, we have a clear indication, it seems, that international elasticities of demand and supply are in fact rather high.

## VI. The Theory of International Trade Policy

It is not possible here to discuss the historical, political, administrative, and strategic aspects of foreign economic policy or, for that matter, all of the economic problems involved. Nevertheless, by dealing with at least some of the purely economic aspects of foreign trade policy on an abstract theoretical level an opportunity will be afforded for further elucidation of the theories reviewed as well as of some of their limitations and weaknesses.

Every statement that this or that trade policy is "correct" or "desirable" implies a *value judgment*. The usual "cconomic" value or objective is maximization of the average national income per head. But shifts in the functional, personal, regional, and temporal—as between the present and the future—distribution of income are also factors that must be taken into account. We may perhaps formulate the "economic" value judgment which more or less consciously is presupposed in policy recommendations as follows: Any policy measure or economic change is deemed good or desirable if it leads to an increase in real national income per head, provided it does not involve a change in the distribution of income that is regarded as undesirable.<sup>1</sup> It is not claimed that this is the only possible or only correct criterion of valuation, but that it is the one which in most cases fits policy recommendations found in the serious literature on the subject.

Static theory tells us that under "ideal conditions"—free competition and the absence of "external economies"—free trade will maximize world income. It does not follow, however, that free trade would also necessarily be the best possible policy from the point of view of each individual country. On the contrary, it can be shown that even under these "ideal conditions" it would be in the interests of any country to restrict imports or exports to some extent (a) if the elasticity of foreign demand is not infinitely great, and (b) if no retaliatory measures need be feared. The actual level of optimum customs protection would then depend on the elasticity of foreign demand and the shape of the domes-

<sup>1</sup> Needless to say, a full statement would require much more detailed specifications. Thus the term real per capita income ought to be interpreted to include not only tangible goods but also leisure, conditions of work, differences in irksomeness of different kinds of labor, and other intangibles. The use of the word "economic welfare" as against national income or output is often consciously designed to draw attention to the "imponderables" mentioned above. We have seen earlier that the "real cost" theorists (especially Viner) have laid stress on the non-physical product dimensions of economic welfare. But the opportunity cost theorist is not debarred from recognizing those factors. tic transformation curve. In brief, the formula for optimum customs duties is that the marginal terms of trade, that is, marginal revenue or marginal receipts from exports, should be equated to the marginal rate of transformation, i.e. marginal opportunity cost in domestic production. Under free trade (free competition), on the other hand, the terms of trade, that is, the *price* of exports in terms of imports (not marginal revenue), are equated to the marginal rate of transformation, i.e. marginal costs. This rule is an application to the field of trade policy of the familiar proposition of price theory that sellers in a competitive market can improve their position by forming a monopoly and equating marginal revenue and marginal cost instead of price and marginal cost.

This tariff argument, based on the fact that protection will improve the terms of trade and therefore also called the "terms of trade argument," is not new; it was familiar to John Stuart Mill, and hinted at by Torrens, and has been accepted in principle by most of such free trade economists, for example, as Edgeworth and Pigou. In the most recent period the argument has become very popular among theorists and has been much misused for protectionist purposes. Because of the great difficulties in its practical application by any single country even in the absence of retaliation, as well as because of the danger of general application, the implications for policy of this argument are by no means as sweeping and as damaging for the free trade position as they are often made to sound in theory.<sup>2</sup>

Another argument for protection which is applicable even under "ideal" conditions, that is, under perfect competition and in the absence of external economies or diseconomies, is based on the claim that a deviation from free trade would change the income distribution in some desirable fashion. For example, if it could be shown by using the Stolper-Samuelson theorem, outlined earlier, that free trade in a particular country tends to reduce the real income of labor, many would regard this as a sufficient justification for some measure of protection, although

<sup>2</sup> The attitude of 19th century free traders on this problem, reconciling their free trade convictions with their scientific conscience, has been well and typically expressed by Edgeworth. Discussing Mr. C. F. Bickerdike's "Theory of Incipient Taxes and Customs Duties," he concludes:

"Thus the direct use of the theory is likely to be small. But it is to be feared that its abuse will be considerable. It affords to unscrupulous advocates of vulgar Protection a peculiarly specious pretext for introducing the thin edge of the fiscal wedge. Mr. Bickerdike may be compared to a scientist who, by a new analysis, has discovered that strychnine may be administered in small doses with prospect of advantage in one or two more cases than was previously known; the result of this discovery may be to render the drug more easily procurable by those whose intention . . . is not medicinal. . . . Let us admire the skill of the analyst, but label the subject of his investigation POISON." *Papers Relating to Political Economy*, Vol. II, pp. 365-366.

For a typical example of middle 20th century attitude towards this essentially nationalistic, beggar-my-neighbor "optimum tariff policy," see R. Kahn, "Tariffs and the Terms of Trade." total real income would suffer.<sup>3</sup> Under other circumstances (for example, those of Great Britain in the 19th century) free trade will bring about a desired redistribution of income, which provides an additional argument for its introduction.

Each departure of the actual situation from the ideal conditions<sup>4</sup> provides theoretical justification for some tampering with the free flow of goods and services. It depends on the concrete circumstances, however, whether such justifiable interference should be an import or export duty or an import or export bounty. The literature, however, generally mentions the former although there is *a priori* no presumption one way or the other.

A particularly important deviation from the "ideal conditions" results from price and wage rigidity, and, related to this, conditions of involuntary unemployment. General unemployment provides a theoretical justification, from the standpoint of national interest, for measures designed to improve the balance of payments via import restrictions, stimulation of exports, or some combination of these measures, such as, for example, a currency devaluation. The level of employment would improve through the multiplier; but it should be noted that this will usually result in damage abroad, except in the case when unemployment in one country is accompanied by inflationary pressures and over full employment in another. Unemployment in import competing industries could in theory justify import restrictions even if it did not result in an improvement in the balance of payments. On the other

<sup>8</sup> Actually, an argument for protection based on the Stolper-Samuelson theory would be unconvincing, because the underlying theoretical model rests on very unrealistic assumptions. It assumes two factors of production only—a homogeneous type of labor and all non-labor factors lumped together as capital. Now the factor "labor" is not homogeneous. Even excluding managerial and entrepreneurial services from the category "labor," there are tremendous differences between skilled and unskilled types of labor, white collar and blue collar labor, research and scientific personnel and manual workers, and so on and so forth. It is hard to see how a plausible ethical preference can be based on such broad aggregates composed of very heterogeneous subtotals.

<sup>4</sup> It is often said that the "ideal conditions" implied by the free trade argument include the assumption that factors of production are freely mobile within each country. While such an assumption is implicit in the labor theory of value, it is entirely unnecessary for the logic of the free trade argument. What is required is free price competition (price flexibility) but not free factor mobility. While free mobility is obviously impossible physically, freely flexible prices are feasible. It should be noted that absence of free competition (monopoly) usually *reinforces* the case for free trade, because trade tends to reduce monopoly power.

It is true, however, that if occupational and geographical mobility of factors of production is sharply restricted a country will derive less advantage from its trading opportunities than if factors were fully mobile. Moreover, trade will then often produce sharp changes in the distribution of income as between the different immobile factors—a condition which may be undesirable in itself and is likely to lead to undesirable social reactions, to price rigidity and unemployment, thus entailing deviations from the "ideal conditions." hand, if unemployment is concentrated in the export industries, it provides theoretical justification for export bounties and/or import subsidies.

It is frequently overlooked that in static terms and from the standpoint of its effects on the terms of trade (that is, ignoring possible transitional difficulties, particularly unemployment and temporary disequilibria of the balance of payments), a general export bounty has the same effects as a general import bounty of the same *ad valorem* percentage. Similarly, as Lerner and others have shown, a general import duty would be equivalent to an equally high export duty provided the customs receipts are spent in the same way and that imports and exports are of equal magnitude. On the other hand, from the point of view of the effect on the balance of payments and the level of employment, that is, in the short run, an import duty is equivalent to an export bounty in the sense that both operate in an expansionary, stimulating fashion; and an export duty is equivalent to an import bounty in the sense that both operate in an anti-inflationist depressive manner.

For our theoretical purposes, the *infant industry argument* for customs duties, which is closely related to the possibility of realizing external economies and to the problem of falling (social) marginal costs, is probably the most interesting one. The concern here is with dynamic processes of the long run and not, as for example in the theory of the multiplier, with the short run.

The free trade argument, based on the theory of comparative costs, has often been criticized for its static nature and for its neglect of the problems of long-run historical development.<sup>5</sup> In pure theory, economic processes are assumed to be reversible. Preference systems, production functions (technical knowledge), the stock of primary factors of production, and the forms of economic organization are all treated as constant or autonomous variables; that is, their magnitude and changes are independent of the equilibrating process itself. All of this is, of course, only approximately true and is correct at best with considerable qualification. Even a demand curve is not always reversible. Assume, for example, that the supply of tobacco temporarily rises and the price falls. When supply returns to its previous level, consumers may have acquired a habit of smoking so that the demand curve will have shifted upwards. On the supply side, where durable capital equipment, the training of workers, and so on, are involved, irreversibilities are even more frequent and important. Most theoreticians, including Edgeworth, Marshall, Pareto, and the Austrian School, have always recognized this in principle. It was particularly emphasized, of course, by the historically inclined economists (including Friedrich List).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> However, the free trade argument too can be given a dynamic twist: Foreign competition may and often does shock inefficient producers out of their customary lethargy or something of that sort.

The infant industry argument in favor of customs protection has, and always has had, a particular appeal in "young" and undeveloped countries. In the United States it was employed by Alexander Hamilton, Washington's Secretary of the Treasury, and by H. C. Carey. In Germany, Friedrich List was its most important proponent. John Stuart Mill recognized the idea in principle, but the other classical writers ignored it. Marshall was particularly impressed by Carey's reasoning. Pigou, Taussig, Viner, as well as almost all modern theorists, emphasize that it is possible, in principle, to speed the development of individual industries or of industry as a whole through such protectionist measures as import restrictions or subsidies. This will under suitable conditions result in their faster development than would be the case if all forces were permitted their free play; as a consequence, at the end of the protective period these industries may enjoy a comparative advantage and be able to meet foreign competition without benefit of protection. The condition that protection can in the end be withdrawn without endangering the existence of the industry is generally taken as a necessary, though not always a sufficient, criterion for the success of a policy of infant industry protection. It is not a sufficient condition because against the advantage gained through successful nurturing of an industry must be set the temporary losses in national income sustained during the period of protection. It might have been more profitable if free trade had been permitted to nurture an export industry to maturity.

Neo-classical theory attempts to deal with these problems which at least partially transcend the framework of static marginal analysis, by means of Marshall's concept of external as distinguished from internal economies. By the latter are meant reductions in cost within a firm resulting from large-scale operations. It is well known that falling marginal costs due to internal economies, within the enterprise, are not reconcilable with free competition. External economies, cost reductions accruing to one or several industries from causes outside the individual enterprise, result in a downward shift of the marginal cost curve for each firm when the industry as a whole expands. Falling costs in that sense are compatible with perfect competition. Examples of such external economies are lower prices charged by such service industries as transports and communications, made possible by larger operation, improvement in the supply of labor, better technical and commercial education, cross fertilization resulting from the application of discoveries and innovations made in some industries to others, and so on.

It must not be overlooked, however, that external *diseconomies* exist too. These could be caused, for example, by traffic congestions, air pollution from smoke and pollution of rivers from industrial sewage, worsening of climatic conditions and water supply from deforestation, and so forth.

We are concerned here with very important and highly complicated

sets of interrelated factors which are difficult to recognize and hard to predict. The individual producer often has no way, and frequently no interest, to foresee such conditions. Under such circumstances one cannot very well assume that the free, unregulated forces of the market, whether under competition or with all sorts of monopolistic encumbrances, will always and without exception bring about the optimum allocation of resources and the best imaginable division of labor. On the other hand, it is at least equally unjustified to expect that government officials and parliaments will usually arrive at the correct diagnoses and proper measures. One thing is clear, it is not permissible, though often done, to derive out of such considerations a presumption in favor of general customs protection.

It should also be added that it is, *a priori*, probable that in many cases not a customs duty but an export bounty would be in order inasmuch as external economies may be realizable in the export rather than in import industries. Each country's and each industry's case must be examined carefully. The fact that the infant industry argument is almost exclusively employed to recommend import restrictions and practically never to justify the opposite—import bounties—(as mentioned above, import and export bounties are equivalent from the static viewpoint) shows clearly the bias of those who employ it.

Those economists who were not satisfied with the contention of the theoretical possibility of successful and advantageous infant industry protection, but who took the pains to examine the policy as it works out in practice—for example, Taussig and Marshall, the latter making a special trip to the United States to study the practical implementation of Carey's theories—were soon disillusioned and have come to rather skeptical conclusions.

The policy of speeding a country's development through customs protection or other measures is a task of great difficulty and complexity. Recommending and evaluating such a policy, to say nothing of carrying it through, requires a good deal more than keen theoretical analysis. What is also needed is a vast factual knowledge, good judgment, and, above all, a sense for historical, political, and social development concerning the practical-political feasibility of a rational policy of protection.

In summary, the contribution which traditional, static trade theory can make to the solution of such problems is rather limited; but it should not be forgotten that static theory comprises "comparative statics," enabling the theorist to go beyond a mere "cross section" analysis and to explain the consequences of changes in the data. What is needed for a fuller treatment of economic change is a long run dynamic theory in which consumer tastes, and especially the supply of factors of production as well as conditions of production, are no longer treated as ultimate data (as they are in static theory), but as variables. Many years ago Friedrich List chided the classical school for closing their eyes to these problems. In our times, J. H. Williams has reiterated this criticism and emphasized the limitations of static cross-section analysis; and Ohlin has done more than any other theorist to show how international trade changes factor supply and moulds consumer preferences.

As far as abstract theory is concerned there exists, however, not much more than occasional hints and programmatic pronouncements concerning the necessity of dynamizing traditional theory plus a few fumbling steps in the direction of the actual construction of dynamic models. Economic history has more to offer than theoretical analysis for the solution of these problems. Those who believe that it is possible to set up model sequences of economic development should go ahead and do it, instead of merely criticizing others for not having done it. Traditional theory, contrary to the views of its critics, by no means precludes the construction of such a broader theoretical frame, although some incautious policy conclusions derived from static reasoning may have to be modified.

#### SELECTED BIBLIOGRAPHY

# I. GENERAL TREATISES, TEXTBOOKS, READING VOLUMES AND COMPREHENSIVE MONOGRAPHS

- American Economic Association, Readings in the Theory of International Trade. Philadelphia, 1949.
- Angell, James W., The Theory of International Prices: History, Criticism, and Restatement. Cambridge (Mass.), 1926.
- Bastable, Charles F., The Theory of International Trade: With Some of its Applications to Economic Policy. London and New York, 1887 and 1903.
- Brown, A. J., Industrialization and Trade, the Changing World Pattern and the Position of Britain. Oxford, 1943.
- Brunner, Karl, Untersuchungen zur Theorie des internationalen Handels in der angelsächsischen Literatur. Diss. Zürich, 1944.
- Cabiati, Attilio, Scambi Internazionali e Politica Bancaria in Regime di Moneta Sana ed Avariata. Turin, 1929.
- Caves, Richard, *Trade and Economic Structure*. Cambridge (Mass.), 1960.
- Chalmers, Henry, World Trade Policies. Berkeley, 1953.
- Condliffe, John B., The Commerce of Nations. New York, 1950.
- Ellsworth, Paul T., International Economics. New York, 1938.
- *The International Economy: Its Structure and Operation.* New York, 1950. Rev. edition, 1958.
- Enke, Stephen and Salera, Virgil, *International Economics*. New York, 1951. 3rd edition, 1954.
- Eulenberg, Franz, Aussenhandel und Aussenhandelspolitik (Die internationalen Wirtschaftsbeziehungen). Grundriss der Sozialökonomik, VIII. Tübingen, 1929.
- Graham, Frank D., The Theory of International Values. Princeton, 1948.
- Haberler, Gottfried, "Some Factors Affecting the Future of International Trade and International Economic Policy" in *Economic Reconstruction*, edited by Seymour E. Harris. New York, 1945 (reprinted in *Readings in the Theory of International Trade*. Philadelphia, 1949).

—— Theory of International Trade: With its Applications to Commercial Policy. New York, 1950.

International Trade and Economic Development (National Bank of Egypt, 50th Anniversary Commemoration Lectures). Cairo, 1959.

- Harris, Seymour E., International and Interregional Economics. New York, 1957.
- Harrod, Roy F., International Economics, revised edition. London, 1957.

Heckscher, Eli R., Mercantilism. London, 1935.

Heilperin, Michael A., The Trade of Nations. New York, 1952.

- Kindleberger, Charles P., International Economics. Homewood (Ill.), 1958.
- Marsh, Donald B., World Trade and Investment: The Economics of Interdependence. New York, 1951.
- Meade, James E., An Introduction to Economic Analysis and Policy. New York, 1938.
  - —— Theory of International Economic Policy, Volume I: The Balance of Payments. New York, 1952.
  - —— Theory of International Economic Policy, Volume II: Trade and Welfare. New York, 1955.
- Metzler, Lloyd A., "The Theory of International Trade," in A Survey of Contemporary Economics, edited by Howard S. Ellis. Philadelphia, 1948.
- Nurkse, Ragnar, Equilibrium and Growth in the World Economy. Economic Essays, edited by G. Haberler and Robert Stern. Cambridge (Mass.), 1961.
- Ohlin, Bertil, Interregional and International Trade. Cambridge (Mass.), 1935.
- Papi, Giuseppe Ugo, Economia Internazionale. Torino, 1959.
- Predöhl, Andreas, Aussenwirtschaft: Weltwirtschaft, Handelspolitik und Währungspolitik. Grundriss der Sozialwissenschaft, 17. Göttingen, 1949.
- Pütz, Theodor, Grundlagen der Aussenwirtschaftstheorie. Jena, 1944.
- Röpke, Wilhelm, Weltwirtschaft und Aussenhandelspolitik. Berlin, 1931.
  L'Economie Mondiale aux XIX<sup>e</sup> et XX<sup>e</sup> Siècles. Geneva, 1959.
- Schelling, Thomas, International Economics. Boston, 1958.
- Schüller, Richard, Schutzzoll und Freihandel: Die Voraussetzungen und Grenzen ihrer Berechtigung. Vienna, 1905.
- Snider, Delbert A., Introduction to International Economics. Homewood (Ill.), 1958.
- Taussig, Frank W., Some Aspects of the Tariff Question. Cambridge (Mass.), 1915.
  - ----- Free Trade, the Tariff, and Reciprocity. New York, 1920.
- —— (editor), Selected Readings in International Trade and Tariff Problems. Boston, 1921.
  - —— International Trade. New York, 1927.
- Tinbergen, Jan, International Economic Cooperation. New York, 1945. ——— International Economic Integration. Amsterdam, 1954.
- Truchy, Henri and Byé, Maurice, Les Relations Économiques Internationales. Paris, 1948.
- Viner, Jacob, "International Trade Theory," in Encyclopedia of the Social Sciences, 8. New York, 1932.
- ------ Studies in the Theory of International Trade. New York, 1937.

- —— The Customs Union Issue. New York, 1950.
- International Economics. Glencoe (Ill.), 1951.
- ----- International Trade and Economic Development. Glencoe (Ill.), 1952.
- ---- "International Trade Theory and its Present Day Relevance," in Economics and Public Policy: Brookings Lectures 1954. Washington, 1955.
- Whale, Barrett, International Trade. London and New York, 1932.
- Williams, John H., Postwar Monetary Plans and Other Essays. New York, 1947.
- Wu, Chi-Yuen, An Outline of International Price Theories. London, 1939.

#### II. THE CLASSICAL THEORY OF COMPARATIVE COSTS AND INTERNATIONAL VALUES-FROM HUME TO MARSHALL

Bastable, C. F., "On Some Disputed Points in the Theory of International Trade," Economic Journal, June 1901.

- The Theory of International Trade with Some of its Applications to Economic Policy. London and New York, 1897 and 1903.

- Blake, William, Observations on the Principles Which Regulate the Course of Exchange. London, 1810.
- Cairnes, John E., Some Leading Principles of Political Economy Newly Expounded. New York, 1874.
- Edgeworth, Francis Y., "The Theory of International Values. I," Economic Journal, March 1894 (reprinted in Papers Relating to Political Economy, Volume II. London, 1925).
  - "The Theory of International Values. II," Economic Journal, September 1894 (reprinted in Papers Relating to Political Economy, Volume II. London, 1925).

----- "The Theory of International Values. III," Economic Journal, December 1894 (reprinted in Papers Relating to Political Economy, Volume II. London, 1925).

— "C. F. Bastable: The Theory of International Trade, 2nd Edi-

Journal, March 1899.

--- "C. F. Bastable: The Theory of International Trade, 3rd Edition," Economic Journal, September 1900.

----- "Disputed Points in the Theory of International Trade," Economic Journal, December 1901.

— Papers Relating to Political Economy, 3 vols. London, 1925.

- "Mr. Bickerdike's Theory of Incipient Taxes and Customs Duties," in Papers Relating to Political Economy. London, 1925.

- Haberler, Gottfried, "The Theory of Comparative Costs Once More," *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, February 1929.
  - "Die Theorie der komparativen Kosten und ihre Auswertung für die Begründung des Freihandels," *Weltwirtschaftliches Archiv*, 32, 1930.
- Hume, David, Writings on Economics, edited and introduced by Eugene Rotwein. Madison (Wis.), 1955.
- Longfield, Mountifort, *Lectures on Political Economy*. London, 1834 (reprinted by London School of Economics, London, 1931).
- Three Lectures on Commerce and One on Absenteeism. Dublin, 1835 (reprinted by London School of Economics, London, 1938).
- Lösch, August, "Wo gilt das Theorem der komparativen Kosten?" Weltwirtschaftliches Archiv, 48, 1938.
- Marshall, Alfred, Industry and Trade. London, 1919.
- —— Money, Credit and Commerce. London, 1923.
- ----- Official Papers. London, 1926.
- Mason, Edward S., "The Doctrine of Comparative Cost." Quarterly Journal of Economics, November 1926.
- Mason, Will E., "Ricardo's Transfer-Mechanism Theory," Quarterly Journal of Economics, February 1957.
- v. Mering, Otto, Theorie des Aussenhandels: In wie weit ist das Freihandelsargument ungültig? Jena, 1933.
- Mill, John Stuart, Principles of Political Economy with Some of their Applications to Social Philosophy, 2 vols. London, 1848.
- Essays on Some Unsettled Questions of Political Economy. London, 1864 (reprinted by London School of Economics, London, 1948).
- Myint, H., "The Classical Theory of International Trade and the Underdeveloped Countries." *Economic Journal*, June 1958.
- Ricardo, David, On the Principles of Political Economy and Taxation. Cambridge (England), 1911.
- Robbins, Lionel, Robert Torrens and the Evolution of Classical Economics. London, 1958.
- Senior, Nassau W., An Introductory Lecture on Political Economy. London (1827), 1852.
  - —— Transmission of the Precious Metals from Country to Country. London, 1828 (reprinted by London School of Economics, London, 1931).
- Smith, Adam, An Inquiry into the Nature and Causes of the Wealth of Nations. London (1776), 1799.
- Taussig, Frank W., "Wages and Prices in Relation to International
Trade." Quarterly Journal of Economics. August 1906 (reprinted in Free Trade, the Tariff, and Reciprocity. New York, 1920).

- Tautscher, Anton, "Weltwirtschaft und Volkswirtschaft bei den Klassikern," Schmollers Jahrbuch, August 1937.
- Thornton, Henry, An Enquiry into the Nature and Effects of the Paper Credit of Great Britain (with introduction by F. A. von Hayek). London, 1939.
- Torrens, Robert, An Essay on the External Corn Trade. London, 1829.
  - Letters on Commercial Policy (with introduction by Lionel Robbins). London, 1833 (reprinted by London School of Economics. London, 1958).
- Viner, Jacob, "The Doctrine of Comparative Costs," Weltwirtschaftliches Archiv, 36, 1932.
- Wheeler, John, A Treatise of Commerce (reprinted from the London 1601 edition). New York, 1931.
- Wicksell, Knut, "International Freights and Prices." Quarterly Journal of Economics, February 1918.
- Williams, John H., "The Theory of International Trade Reconsidered." Economic Journal, June 1929 (reprinted in American Economic Association, Readings in the Theory of International Trade. Philadelphia, 1949).

## III. MODERN DEVELOPMENTS OF THE PURE THEORY

- Baldwin, Robert E., "Equilibrium in International Trade: A Diagrammatic Analysis," *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, November 1948.
- "The New Welfare Economics and Gains in International Trade," *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, February 1952.
- Balogh, Thomas, "Static Models and Current Problems in International Economics," Oxford Economic Papers, June 1949.
- Balogh, T. and Streeten, P. P., "The Inappropriateness of Simple 'Elasticity' Concepts in the Analysis of International Trade," Bulletin of the Oxford University Institute of Statistics, March 1951.
- Beach, Walter E., "Some Aspects of International Trade under Monopolistic Competition," in *Explorations in Economics: Notes and Essays Contributed in Honor of F. W. Taussig.* New York, 1936.
- Becker, G. S., "A Note on Multi-Country Trade," American Economic Review, September 1952.
- Bensusan-Butt, D. M., "A Model of Trade and Accumulation," American Economic Review, September 1954.
- Bhagwati, Jagdish, "International Trade and Economic Expansion," American Economic Review, December 1958.
- Black, J., "Economic Expansion and International Trade: A Marshallian Approach," Review of Economic Studies, 1955-56.

- Breglia, A., "Divisione del lavoro e scambio internazionali," Giornale degli Economisti e Rivista di Statistica, May 1929.
- Corden, W. M., "Economic Expansion and International Trade: A Geometric Approach," Oxford Economic Papers, June 1956.
- Danière, A., "American Trade Structure and Comparative Cost Theory," Economia Internazionale, August 1956.
- Diab, M. A., The United States Capital Position and the Structure of its Foreign Trade (Contribution to Economic Analysis, Vol. XI). Amsterdam, 1951.
- Elliott, G. A., "The Theory of International Values" (Review Article of F. D. Graham's *The Theory of International Values*), *Journal of Political Economy*, February 1950.
- Ellsworth, Paul T., "Comparative Costs, the Gains from Trade, and Other Matters Considered by Professor Viner," *Canadian Journal of Economics and Political Science*, May 1939.

—— "A Comparison of International Trade Theories," American Economic Review, June 1940.

—— "The Structure of American Foreign Trade: A New View Examined," *Review of Economics and Statistics*, August 1954.

Enke, S., "The Monopsony Case for Tariffs," Quarterly Journal of Economics, February 1944.

—— "Monopolistic Output and International Trade," *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, February 1946.

- Forstmann, Albrecht, "Zur Frage der Erneuerung der Aussenwirtschaftstheorie und ihres Einbaus in die allgemeine volkswirtschaftliche Theorie," Jahrbuch für Nationalökonomie und Statistik, July 1951.
- Gilbert, J. C., "The Present Position of the Theory of International Trade," *Review of Economic Studies*, October 1935.
- Graham, Frank D., "The Theory of International Values Re-examined," *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, November 1923.
- Haberler, Cottfried, "Some Problems in the Pure Theory of International Trade," *Economic Journal*, June 1950. Reply: Balogh, Thomas, "Welfare and Freer Trade—A Reply," *Economic Journal*, March 1951. Rejoinder: Haberler, Cottfried, "Welfare and Freer Trade—A Rejoinder," *Economic Journal*, December 1951.
- "Real Cost, Money Cost and Comparative Advantage," International Social Science Bulletin, Spring 1951.
  - "The Relevance of the Classical Theory under Modern Conditions," American Economic Review, Papers and Proceedings, May 1954.
- "Die Gleichgewichtstheorie des internationalen Handels," in Deutschland und die Weltwirtschaft (Schriften des Vereins für Sozialpolitik Gesellschaft für Wirtschaft- und Sozialwissenschaften, Neue Folge Band 10). Berlin, 1954.

Harrod, R. F., "Scope and Method of Economics," *Economic Journal*, September 1938.

Heckscher, Eli F., "The Effect of Foreign Trade on the Distribution of Income," *Ekonomisk Tidskrift*, 21, 1919 (in American Economic Association, *Readings in the Theory of International Trade*. Philadelphia, 1949).

Hicks, J. R., Essays in World Economics. Oxford, 1959.

- Hoffmeyer, E., "The Leontief Paradox Critically Examined," Manchester School, May 1958.
- Isard, Walter and Peck, Merton J., "Location Theory and International and Interregional Trade Theory," *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, February 1954.
- Johnson, Harry G., "Economic Expansion and International Trade," Manchester School, May 1955 (reprinted in Johnson, H. G., International Trade and Economic Growth; Studies in Pure Theory. Cambridge (Mass.), 1958).

"Factor Endowments, International Trade and Factor Prices," Manchester School, September 1957.

"International Trade, Income Distribution, and the Offer Curve," *The Manchester School of Economic and Social Studies*, September 1959.

"Income Distribution, The Offer Curve and the Effects of Tariffs," *The Manchester School of Economic and Social Studies*, September 1960.

- Kojima, K., "Equilibrium in International Trade: A Diagrammatic Analysis of the Case of Increasing Cost," Annals of the Hitotsubashi Academy, October 1955.
- Kleiman, E., "Comparative Advantage, Graham's Theory, and Activity Analysis," *Economica*, August 1960.
- Lancaster, K., "The Heckscher-Ohlin Trade Model: A Geometric Treatment," Economica, February 1957.

"Protection and Real Wages: A Restatement," *Economic Journal*, June 1957.

Laursen, Svend, "Production Functions and the Theory of International Trade," *American Economic Review*, September 1952.

Leontief, Wassily, "The Use of Indifference Curves in the Analysis of Foreign Trade," *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, May 1933 (reprinted in American Economic Association, *Readings in the Theory of International Trade*, Philadelphia, 1949).

"Domestic Production and Foreign Trade: The American Capital Position Re-examined," *Proceedings of the American Philosophical Society*, September 1953 (reprinted in *Economia Internazionale*, February 1954).

<sup>&</sup>quot;Factor-Price Relations under Free Trade," *Economic Journal*, June 1958.

----- "Factor Proportions and the Structure of American Trade: Further Theoretical and Empirical Analysis," *Review of Economics and Statistics*, November 1956.

Lerner, Abba P., "Diagrammatical Representation of Cost Conditions in International Trade," *Economica*, August 1932 (reprinted in *Essays in Economic Analysis*. New York, 1953).

—— "Diagrammatical Representation of Demand Conditions in International Trade," *Economica*, August 1934 (reprinted in *Essays in Economic Analysis*. New York, 1953).

—— "The Symmetry Between Import and Export Taxes," *Economica*, August 1936 (reprinted in *Essays in Economic Analysis*. New York, 1953).

—— "Factor Prices and International Trade," *Economica*, February 1952 (reprinted in *Essays in Economic Analysis*. New York, 1953).

—— Essays in Economic Analysis. New York and London, 1953.

- Lösch, August, "Eine neue Theorie des internationalen Handels," Weltwirtschaftliches Archiv, 50, 1939.
- Lovasy, Gertrud, "International Trade under Imperfect Competition," *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, August 1941.
- MacDougall, G. D. A., "British and American Exports: A Study Suggested by the Theory of Comparative Costs, Part I," *Economic Jour*nal, December 1951; Part II, *Economic Journal*, September 1952.
- Matthews, R. C. O., "Reciprocal Demand and Increasing Returns," Review of Economic Studies, 1949-50.
- McKenzie, L. W., "Specialisation and Efficiency in World Production," *Review of Economic Studies*, XXI (3), 1953-54.

—— "On Equilibrium in Graham's Model of World Trade and Other Competitive Systems," *Econometrica*, April 1954.

- Meade, James E., "The Equalisation of Factor Prices: The Two-Country Two-Factor Three-Product Case," Metroeconomica, December 1950.
- ------ A Geometry of International Trade. London, 1952.
- ----- Problems of Economic Union. Chicago, 1953.
- ------ The Theory of Customs Unions. Amsterdam, 1955.
- Trade and Welfare (The Theory of International Economic Policy, Vol. II). Oxford, 1955.
- Meier, G. M., "The Theory of Comparative Costs Reconsidered," Oxford Economic Papers, June 1949.
- Metzler, Lloyd A., "Tariffs, the Terms of Trade, and the Distribution of National Income," Journal of Political Economy, February 1949.
  - —— "Tariffs, International Demand, and Domestic Prices," *Journal* of *Political Economy*, August 1949.

------ "Graham's Theory of International Values," American Economic Review, June 1950.

- Mookerjee, Subimal, Factor Endowments and International Trade: A Statement and Appraisal of the Heckscher-Ohlin Theory. Bombay, 1958.
- Morgan, E. V. and Rees, G. L., "Non-Traded Goods and International Factor Price Equalisation," *Economica*, November 1954.
- Mosak, Jacob L., *General Equilibrium Theory in International Trade*. Bloomington (Ind.), 1944.
- Mundell, R. A., "International Trade and Factor Mobility," American Economic Review, June 1957.

"The Pure Theory of International Trade," American Economic Review, March 1960.

- Myint, H., "The Gains from International Trade and the Backward Countries," *Review of Economic Studies*, 1954-55.
- Pareto, V., "Teoria matematica del commercio internazionale," *Giornale degli Economisti*, April 1895.
- Pearce, I. F., "A Further Note on Factor-Commodity Price Relationships," *Economic Journal*, December 1959.
- Pearce, I. F. and James, S. F., "The Factor-Price Equalization Myth," *Review of Economic Studies*, 1951-52.
- de Pietri-Tonelli, Alfonso, "Il Sistema delle Relazioni Economiche Internationali," *Economia Internazionale*, May 1948.
- Predöhl, Andreas, "Weltwirtschaft in räumlicher Perspektive," Economia Internazionale, November 1950.
- Rangnekar, S. B., *Imperfect Competition in International Trade*, edited by J. J. Anjaria. London, 1947.
- Robinson, Joan, "The Pure Theory of International Trade," Review of Economic Studies, XIV (2), 1946-47 (reprinted in J. Robinson, Collected Economic Papers. Oxford, 1951).
- Robinson, Romney, "Factor Proportions and Comparative Advantage: Part I," Quarterly Journal of Economics, May 1956. Part II, Quarterly Journal of Economics, August 1956.
- Rybczynski, T. M., "Factor Endowment and Relative Commodity Prices," *Economica*, November 1955.
- Samuelson, Paul A., "Welfare Economics and International Trade," American Economic Review, June 1938.

"The Gains from International Trade," Canadian Journal of Economics and Political Science, May 1939 (reprinted in American Economic Association, Readings in the Theory of International Trade. Philadelphia, 1949).

—— "International Trade and the Equalisation of Factor Prices," *Economic Journal*, June 1948.

"International Factor-Price Equalisation Once Again," *Economic Journal*, June 1949.

—— "A Comment on Factor Price Equalisation," Review of Economic Studies, 1951-52. ------ "Prices of Factors and Goods in General Equilibrium," *Review* of *Economic Studies*, 1953-54.

- "Social Indifference Curves," Quarterly Journal of Economics, February 1956.
- Santarelli, Antonio, Occupazione Totale e Commercio con L'Estero. Padua, 1950.
- Savosnick, K. M., "The Box Diagram and the Production Possibility Curve," *Ekonomisk Tidskrift*, September 1958.
- Schneider, Erich, "Wirtschaftsplan und Aussenhandel," Aussenwirtschaft, 3, 1948.
- Stevens, R. W., "New Ideas in the Theory of International Trade," American Economic Review, June 1951.
- Stolper, Wolfgang, "A Method of Constructing Community Indifference Curves," Schweizerische Zeitschrift für Volkswirtschaft und Statistik, April 1950.
- Stolper, Wolfgang and Samuelson, Paul A., "Protection and Real Wages," Review of Economic Studies, IX, No. 1, November 1941 (reprinted in American Economic Association, Readings in the Theory of International Trade. Philadelphia, 1949).
- Tinbergen, Jan, "The Equalization of Factor Prices between Free-trade Areas," *Metroeconomica*, April 1949.
- Valavanis-Vail, Stefan, "Leontief's Scarce Factor Paradox," Journal of Political Economy, December 1954.
- Vanek, J., "An Afterthought on the 'Real Cost-Opportunity Cost' Dispute and Some Aspects of General Equilibrium under Conditions of Variable Factor Supplies," *Review of Economic Studies*, June 1959.
  - ------ "An Alternative Proof of the Factor Price Equalization Theorem," *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, November 1960.
- Viner, J., "Angell's Theory of International Prices," Journal of Political Economy, October 1926.

"Professor Taussig's Contribution to the Theory of International Trade," in Explorations in Economics: Notes and Essays Contributed in Honor of F. W. Taussig. New York, 1936.

- Walsh, V. C., "Leisure and International Trade," *Economica*, August 1956.
- Whitin, T. M., "Classical Theory, Graham's Theory and Linear Programming in International Trade," *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, November 1953.
- Wijnholds, H. W. J., "Das Theorem der komparativen Kosten und die Theorie des internationalen Handels," Weltwirtschaftliches Archiv, 49, 1939.

"The Theory of International Trade, a New Approach," South African Journal of Economics, September 1953.

Williams, J. H., "International Trade Theory and Policy-Some Current

Issues," American Economic Review, Papers and Proceedings, May 1951.

- Wolfe, J. N., "Transport Costs and Comparative Advantage," Journal of Political Economy, August 1959.
- Yntema, Theodore O., A Mathematical Reformulation of the General Theory of International Trade. Chicago, 1932.

## IV. THE TERMS OF TRADE

Baldwin, R. E., "Secular Movements in the Terms of Trade," American Economic Review, May 1955.

Benham, Frederic, "The Terms of Trade," Economica, November 1940.

- Corden, W. M., "Tariffs, Subsidies and the Terms of Trade," *Economica*, August 1957.
- Devons, Ely, "Statistics of United Kingdom Terms of Trade," The Manchester School, September 1954.
- Dorrance, G. S., "The Income Terms of Trade," Review of Economic Studies, XVI (1), 1948-49.
- Elliott, G. A., "Protective Duties, Tributes and Terms of Trade," *Journal* of *Political Economy*, December 1937.
- Gorman, W. M., "The Effect of Tariffs on the Level and Terms of Trade," Journal of Political Economy, June 1959.
- Haberler, Gottfried, "Currency Depreciation and the Terms of Trade," in Wirtschaftliche Entwicklung und soziale Ordnung, edited by Ernst Lagler and J. Messner. Vienna, 1952.

—— "Terms of Trade and Economic Development," in *Economic Development for Latin America*, edited by Howard S. Ellis. New York, 1961. (German translation in *Zeitschrift für Nationalökonomie*, Vol. XVII, 1958.)

Imlah, Albert H., "Real Values in British Foreign Trade, 1796-1853," Journal of Economic History, November 1948 (reprinted in Economic Elements in the Pax Britannica. Cambridge [Mass.], 1958).

"The Terms of Trade of the United Kingdom," Journal of Economic History, November 1950 (reprinted in Economic Elements in the Pax Britannica. Cambridge [Mass.], 1958).

—— Economic Elements in the Pax Britannica; Studies in British Foreign Trade in the Nineteenth Century. Cambridge (Mass.), 1958.

- Kaldor, Nicholas, "A Note on Tariffs and the Terms of Trade," *Economica*, November 1940.
- Kemp, Murray, "The Relation Between Changes in International Demand and the Terms of Trade," *Econometrica*, January 1956.
- Kennedy, Charles, "Devaluation and the Terms of Trade," Review of Economic Studies, XVIII (1), 1949-50.
- Kindleberger, C. P., *The Terms of Trade: A European Case Study*. New York and Cambridge (Mass.), 1956.

- Machlup, Fritz, "The Terms-of-Trade Effects of Devaluation upon Real Income and the Balance of Trade," *Kyklos*, November 1956.
- Robertson, Dennis H., "The Terms of Trade," International Social Science Bulletin, Spring 1951 (reprinted in Utility and All That and Other Essays. London, 1952).
- Rostow, W. W., The Process of Economic Growth (Chapter 8 and 9). New York, 1952.
- Staehle, Hans, "Some Notes on the Terms of Trade," International Social Science Bulletin, Spring 1951.

# V. THE BALANCE OF PAYMENTS MECHANISM

## 1. General

- Balogh, Thomas, The Dollar Crisis, Causes and Cure: A Report to the Fabian Society. Oxford, 1950; New York, 1949.
- Bloomfield, Arthur I., Capital Imports and the American Balance of Payments, 1934-1939: A Study in Abnormal International Capital Transfers. Chicago, 1950.
- Ellis, Howard S., German Monetary Theory 1905-1933. Cambridge (Mass.), 1934.

"The Dollar Shortage in Theory and Fact," Canadian Journal of Economics and Political Science, August 1948.

- Goschen, George J., The Theory of the Foreign Exchanges. London, 1863.
- Haberler, Gottfried, "Dollar Shortage?" in Foreign Economic Policy for the United States, edited by Seymour E. Harris. Cambridge (Mass.), 1948.
- Harris, Seymour E. (editor), Foreign Economic Policy for the United States. Cambridge (Mass.), 1948. Part V, "Problems of International Equilibrium."
- Hayek, F. A., Monetary Nationalism and International Stability. London, 1939.
- Hicks, John R., "The Long Run Dollar Problem. An Inaugural Lecture," Oxford Economic Papers, N.S.5, 1953 (reprinted in Essays in World Economics. Oxford, 1959).
- Iverson, Carl, Aspects of the Theory of International Capital Movements. Copenhagen, 1935.
- Kindleberger, Charles P., International Short-term Capital Movements. New York, 1937.

—— The Dollar Shortage. New York, 1950.

- Kruse, Alfred, "Die Mechanismen des Zahlungsbilanzausgleichs," in Wirtschaftstheorie und Wirtschaftspolitik: Festgabe für Adolph Weber, edited by Alfred Kruse. Berlin, 1951.
- Küng, Emil, Die Selbstregulierung der Zahlungsbilanz: Eine Unter-

suchung über die automatischen Methoden des Zahlungsbilanzausgleiches. St. Gallen, 1948.

— Zahlungsbilanzpolitik. Zürich, 1959.

Machlup, Fritz, "Three Concepts of the Balance of Payments and the So-called Dollar Shortage," *Economic Journal*, March 1950.

"Dollar Shortage and Disparities in the Growth of Productivity," The Scottish Journal of Political Economy, October 1954.

"Equilibrium and Disequilibrium: Misplaced Concreteness and Disguised Politics," *Economic Journal*, March 1958.

Mahr, Alexander, "Die wesentlich Bedingung des Gleichgewichts der Zahlungsbilanz," *Economia Internazionale*, May 1951.

Meade, James E., The Balance of Payments. London, 1951.

"The Balance of Payments Problems of a European Free-Trade Area," *The Economic Journal*, September 1957.

Meyer, Fritz W., Der Ausgleich der Zahlungsbilanz. Jena, 1938.

- Mundell, Robert A., "The Monetary Dynamics of International Adjustment under Fixed and Flexible Exchange Rates," *Quarterly Journal* of *Economics*, May 1960.
- Niehans, Jürg, Ausgleichgesetze der amerikanischen Zahlungsbilanz: Von der allgemeinen Preistheorie zur quantitativen Voraussage. Bern, 1951.

Nurkse, Ragnar, Internationale Kapitalbewegungen. Vienna, 1935.

"The Relation between Home Investment and External Balance in the Light of British Experience, 1945-1955," *Review of Economics* and Statistics, 1956 (reprinted in Equilibrium and Growth in the World Economy. Cambridge [Mass.], 1961).

- Paish, F. W., "Banking Policy and the Balance of International Payments," *Economica*, November 1936 (reprinted in American Economic Association, *Readings in the Theory of International Trade*. Philadelphia, 1949).
- Pareto, V., "Teoria matematica dei cambi forestieri," Giornale degli Economisti, February 1894.
- Schlesinger, Eugene R., Multiple Exchange Rates and Economic Development. Princeton, 1952.

Stuvel, Gerhard, The Exchange Stability Problem. Diss. Leiden, 1950.

- Tinbergen, Jan, "Anomalien im Zahlungsbilanzmechanismus," Weltwirtschaftliches Archiv, 63, 1949.
- Viner, Jacob, Canada's Balance of International Indebtedness 1900-1913: An Inductive Study in the Theory of International Trade. Cambridge (Mass.), 1924.

2. Price and Income Effects in the Mechanism: The Transfer Problem

Alexander, Sidney S., "Effects of a Devaluation on a Trade Balance," International Monetary Fund, *Staff Papers*, April 1952. "Effects of a Devaluation: A Simplified Synthesis of Elasticities and Absorption Approaches," *American Economic Review*, March 1959.

- Bloomfield, Arthur I., "Foreign Exchange Rate Theory and Policy," in The New Economics: Keynes' Influence on Theory and Public Policy, edited by Seymour E. Harris. New York, 1948.
- Böhi, Hans, Grundsätze und Methoden zur Ermittlung der richtigen Währungsrelationen zum Ausland. Bern, 1944.
- Brown, A. J., "Trade Balances and Exchange Stability," in Oxford Studies in the Price Mechanism, edited by T. Wilson and P.W.S. Andrews. Oxford, 1951.
- Elliott, G. A., "Transfer of Means-of-Payments and the Terms of International Trade," *Canadian Journal of Economics and Political Science*, November 1936.
- Ellis, Howard S., "The Equilibrium Rate of Exchange," in *Explorations* in *Economics: Notes and Essays Contributed in Honor of F. W. Taus*sig. New York, 1936.
- Ellsworth, Paul T., "Exchange Rates and Exchange Stability," Review of Economics and Statistics, February 1950.
- Fanno, M., Normal and Abnormal International Capital Transfers. Minneapolis, 1939.
- Haberler, Gottfried, "Transfer und Preisbewegung," Zeitschrift für Nationalökonomie, January and August 1930.
  - "The Market for Foreign Exchange and the Stability of the Balance of Payments: A Theoretical Analysis," *Kyklos*, Vol. 3, No. 3, 1949.
- Harberger, Arnold C., "Currency Depreciation, Income, and the Balance of Trade," *Journal of Political Economy*, February 1950.
  - —— "Pitfalls in Mathematical Model-Building," *American Economic Review*, December 1952.
  - —— "A Structural Approach to the Problem of Import Demand," American Economic Review, Papers and Proceedings, May 1953.
  - —— "Some Evidence on the International Price Mechanism," Journal of Political Economy, December 1957.
- Hinshaw, Randall, "Currency Appreciation as an Anti-Inflationary Device," Quarterly Journal of Economics, November 1951 and February 1952.
- Iversen, C., Some Aspects of the Theory of International Capital Movements. Copenhagen, 1935.
- Johnson, Harry G., "The Transfer Problem: A Note on Criteria for Changes in the Terms of Trade," *Economica*, May 1955.

—— <sup>a</sup>The Transfer Problem and Exchange Stability," Journal of Political Economy, June 1956 (reprinted in International Trade and Economic Growth. Cambridge [Mass.], 1958). Keynes, John M., "The German Transfer Problem," Economic Journal, March 1929 (reprinted in American Economic Association, Readings in the Theory of International Trade. Philadelphia, 1949).

Leontief, Wassily, "Note on the Pure Theory of Capital Transfer," in Explorations in Economics: Notes and Essays Contributed in Honor of F. W. Taussig. New York, 1936.

Lösch, August, "Eine Auseinandersetzung über das Transferproblem," Schmollers Jahrbuch, December 1930.

—— "Die Lehre vom Transfer—neu gefasst," Jahrbuch für Nationalökonomie und Statistik, October 1941.

– "Um eine neue Transfertheorie: Zur Verteidigung der alten Lehre durch Fritz Meyer," Jahrbuch für Nationalökonomie und Statistik, January 1943.

Machlup, Fritz, "Transfer und Preisbewegung," Zeitschrift für Nationalökonomie, January 1930.

- "The Theory of Foreign Exchanges," Economica, November 1939 and February 1940 (reprinted in American Economic Association, Readings in the Theory of International Trade. Philadelphia, 1949).

- "Elasticity Pessimism in International Trade," Economia Internazionale, February 1950.

- "Relative Prices and Aggregate Expenditure in the Analysis of Devaluation," American Economic Review, June 1955.

- Metzler, Lloyd A., "The Transfer Problem Reconsidered," Journal of Political Economy, June 1942 (reprinted in American Economic Association, Readings in the Theory of International Trade. Philadelphia, 1949).
- Meyer, Fritz, "Eine neue Transfertheorie? Kritische Bemerkungen zu einigen Abschnitten des Buches von A. Lösch: Die räumliche Ordnung der Wirtschaft," Archiv für Wirtschaftplanung, 1, 1941
- Ohlin, Bertil, "The Reparation Problem: A Discussion," Economic Journal, June 1929 (reprinted in American Economic Association, Readings in the Theory of International Trade. Philadelphia, 1949).

- "Transfer und Preisbewegung, Eine Entgegnung," Zeitschrift für Nationalökonomie, April 1930.

Orcutt, Guy H., "Measurement of Price Elasticities in International Trade," Review of Economics and Statistics, May 1950.

"Exchange Rate Adjustment and Relative Size of the De-

preciating Bloc," Review of Economics and Statistics, February 1955. Pigou, Arthur C., "The Foreign Exchanges," Quarterly Journal of Economics, November 1922.

- "Disturbance of Equilibrium in International Trade," Economic Journal, September 1929 (reprinted in Economic Essays and Addresses by D. H. Robertson and A. C. Pigou, London, 1931).

""" "Reparations and the Ratio of International Interchange," *Economic Journal*, December 1932.

— A Study in Public Finance. London, 1947, 3rd edition (Chapters XVIII-XXIII).

- Robertson, Dennis H., "The Transfer Problem," in *Essays in Monetary Theory.* London, 1940.
- Robinson, Joan, The Foreign Exchanges: Essays on the Theory of Employment. Oxford, 1947 (reprinted in American Economic Association, Readings in the Theory of International Trade. Philadelphia, 1949).
- Rothschild, Kurt, "Zur Frage der Auswirkungen einer Abwertung auf die internationalen Austauschbedingungen," Weltwirtschaftliches Archiv, 72, 1954.
- Samuelson, Paul A., "The Transfer Problem and Transport Costs," *Economic Journal*, June 1952 and June 1954.
- Smith, W. L., "Effects of Exchange Rate Adjustments on the Standard of Living," American Economic Review, December 1954.
- Sohmen, Egon, Flexible Exchange Rates, Theory and Controversy. Chicago, 1961.
- Spraos, John, "Consumers' Behaviour and the Conditions for Exchange Stability," *Economica*, May 1955.
- von Stackelberg, Heinrich, "Die Theorie der Wechselkurse bei vollständiger Konkurrenz," Jahrbuch für Nationalökonomie und Statistik, September 1949. (English translation in International Economic Papers, No. 1, International Economic Association, New York, 1951).
- Tinbergen, Jan, "The Relation between Internal Inflation and the Balance of Payments," *Banco Nazionale del Lavoro Quarterly Review*, October-December 1952.
- Wilson, Roland, Capital imports and the Terms of Trade, Examined in the Light of Sixty Years of Australian Borrowings. Melbourne, 1931.

## 3. The Foreign Trade Multiplier

- Bronfenbrenner, M., "The Keynesian Equations and the Balance of Payments," *Review of Economic Studies*, VII, No. 3, June 1940.
- Clark, Colin, "Determination of the Multiplier from National Income Statistics," *Economic Journal*, September 1938.
- Giersch, Herbert, "Akzelerationsprinzip und Importneigung," Weltwirtschaftliches Archiv, 70, 1953. (English Translation in International Economic Papers, No. 4, International Economic Association, New York, 1954.)
- Hegelund, Hugo, "The Multiplier Theory," *Lund Social Science Studies*, 9, 1954.
- Holzman, F. D. and Arnold Zellner, "The Foreign-Trade and Balanced-Budget Multipliers," *American Economic Review*, March 1958.

- Laursen, Svend and Metzler, Lloyd A., "Flexible Exchange Rates and the Theory of Employment," *Review of Economics and Statistics*, November 1950.
- Machlup, Fritz, International Trade and the National Income Multiplier. Philadelphia, 1943.
- Metzler, Lloyd A., "Underemployment Equilibrium in International Trade," *Econometrica*, April 1942.

"Review of Machlup's International Trade and the National Income Multiplier," Review of Economics and Statistics, February 1945.

- Miyazawa, Kenichi, "Foreign Trade Multiplier, Input-Output Analysis and the Consumption Function," *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, February 1960.
- Neisser, Hans, "The Significance of Foreign Trade for Domestic Employment," Social Research, September 1946.
- Neisser, Hans and Modigliani, Franco, National Incomes and International Trade. Urbana (Ill.), 1953.
- Nurkse, Ragnar, "Domestic and International Equilibrium," in *The New Economics: Keynes' Influence on Theory and Public Policy*, edited by Seymour E. Harris. New York, 1948.
- Polak, J. J., "The Foreign Trade Multiplier," "Comment" by G. Haberler and "A Restatement," by J. J. Polak and G. Haberler, American Economic Review, December 1947.

—— An International Economic System. Chicago, 1953.

- Rees, G. L., "Price Effects and the Foreign Trade Multipliers," Review of Economic Studies, XX (3), 1952-53.
- Robertson, D. H., "Mr. Clark and the Foreign Trade Multiplier," *Economic Journal*, June 1939.
- Robinson, Joan, Beggar-my-neighbor Remedies for Unemployment: Essays on the Theory of Employment. Oxford, 1947 (reprinted in American Economic Association, Readings in the Theory of International Trade. Philadelphia, 1949).
- Robinson, Romney, "A Graphical Analysis of the Foreign Trade Multiplier," *Economic Journal*, September 1952.
- Stolper, Wolfgang, "The Volume of Foreign Trade and the Level of Income," Quarterly Journal of Economics, February 1947.

"Stand und ungelöste Probleme der Theorie des Aussenhandelsmultiplikators," Zeitschrift für die gesamte Staatswissenschaft, 108, 1952.

## 4. Purchasing Power Parity Theory

- Bresciani-Turroni, C., "The Purchasing Power Parity Doctrine," L'Egypte Contemporaine, May 1934 (shorter version in the Author's book, The Economics of Inflation. London 1937).
- Brisman, Sven, "Some Reflections on the Theory of Foreign Exchange," in *Economic Essays in Honour of Gustav Cassel*. London, 1933.

- Cassel, Gustav, "The Present Situation of the Foreign Exchanges," Economic Journal, 1916.
  - —— "Abnormal Deviations in International Exchanges," *Economic* Journal, 1918.
  - The Theory of Social Economy, 1st ed. New York, 1924.
  - Fundamental Thoughts in Economics. New York, 1925.

------ "International Trade, Capital Movements, and Exchanges," in Harris Foundation Lectures: *Foreign Investments*. Chicago, 1928.

- Dobler, Fritz, Kritische Untersuchungen zur Theorie der Kaufkraftparitäten. Tübingen, 1928.
- Ellis, Howard S., "Price Levels and Foreign Exchange under Inflation," Part III in German Monetary Theory, Cambridge (Mass.), 1934.
- Haberler, Gottfried, "Currency Depreciation and the International Monetary Fund," *Review of Economic Statistics*, November 1944 (reprinted in *Foreign Economic Policy for the United States*, edited by Seymour Harris. Cambridge [Mass.], 1948).

"The Choice of Exchange Rates after the War," American Economic Review, 1945.

Hansen, A. H., "A Note on 'Fundamental Disequilibrium'," Review of Economic Statistics, November 1944 (reprinted in America's Role in the World Economy, New York, 1945, and in Foreign Economic Policy for the United States, edited by Seymour Harris. Cambridge [Mass.], 1948).

Keynes, J. M., A Tract on Monetary Reform. London, 1923.

- Koranyi, Karl, "Zahlungsbilanz, Kaufkraft und Wechselkurs," Weltwirtschaftliches Archiv, 26, 1927.
- Müller, Hugo, Wechselkurse und Güterpreise. Jena, 1926.
- Pigou, A. C., "The Foreign Exchanges," Quarterly Journal of Economics, November 1922.

—— "Disturbances of Equilibrium in International Trade," *Economic Journal*, September 1929 (reprinted in A. C. Pigou and D. H. Robertson, *Economic Essays and Addresses*. London, 1931).

Terborgh, George, "Purchasing Power Parity Theory," Journal of Political Economy, April 1926.

# VI. THE THEORY OF INTERNATIONAL TRADE POLICY (INCLUDING THE "OPTIMUM TARIFF" PROBLEM)

- Alexander, Sidney S., "Devaluation Versus Import Restriction as an Instrument for Improving Foreign Trade Balance," International Monetary Fund, Staff Papers, April 1951.
- Anderson, Karl L., "Tariff Protection and Increasing Returns," in Explorations in Economics: Notes and Essays Contributed in Honor of F. W. Taussig. New York, 1936.

Baldwin, Robert E., "The Effect of Tariffs on International and Domestic Prices," *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, February 1960.

Beveridge, William, Tariffs: the Case Examined. London, 1931.

- Bickerdike, C. F., "The Theory of Incipient Taxes." *Economic Journal*, December 1906.
- Black, John, "Arguments for Tariffs," Oxford Economic Papers (New Series), Vol. II, June 1959.
- Elliott, G. A., "The Relation of Protective Duties to Domestic Production," Canadian Journal of Economics and Political Science, May 1940.
- Fleming, J. M., "On Making the Best of Balance of Payments Restrictions on Imports," *Economic Journal*, March 1951.
- "The Optimal Tariff from an International Standpoint," Review of Economics and Statistics, February 1956.
- Giersch, H., "The Trade Optimum, A Contribution to the Theory of Economic Policy" in *International Economic Papers*, No. 7. London and New York, 1957.
- Gorman, W. M., "Tariffs, Retaliation, and the Elasticity of Demand for Imports," *Review of Economic Studies*, June 1958.
- de Graaff, J., "On Optimum Tariff Structures," Review of Economic Studies, XVII (1), 1949-50.

Quarterly Journal of Economics, February 1923.

—— "Some Fallacies in the Interpretation of Social Costs: A Reply," *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, February 1925.

- Hagen, Everett E., "An Economic Justification of Protectionism," Quarterly Journal of Economics, November 1958.
- Henderson, A., "The Restriction of Foreign Trade," Manchester School, January 1949.
- Henderson, Sir Hubert D., "The Function of Exchange Rates," Oxford Economic Papers, January 1949 (reprinted in The Interwar Years and other Essays. Oxford, 1955).
- Hicks, J. R., "Free Trade and Modern Economics," Transactions of the Manchester Statistical Society, March 1951.
- Johnson, Harry G., "Optimum Tariffs and Retaliation," Review of Economic Studies, 1953-54.

"The Cost of Protection and the Scientific Tariff," Journal of Political Economy, August 1960.

- Kahn, Richard F., "Tariffs and the Terms of Trade," Review of Economic Studies, XVI (1), 1947-48.
- Little, I. M. D., "Welfare and Tariffs," Review of Economic Studies, XV (2), 1949-50.
- Ohlin, Bertil, "Protection and Non-Competing Groups," Weltwirtschaftliches Archiv, Heft 1, 1931.

Pigou, A. C., Protective and Preferential Import Duties. London, 1906.

- de Scitovsky, Tibor, "A Reconsideration of the Theory of Tariffs," Review of Economic Studies, IX, No. 2, Summer 1942 (reprinted in American Economic Association, Readings in the Theory of International Trade. Philadelphia, 1949).
- tional Trade. Philadelphia, 1949). Smithies, Arthur, "Modern International Trade Theory and International Policy," American Economic Review, Papers and Proceedings, May 1952.

# RECENT PUBLICATIONS OF INTERNATIONAL FINANCE SECTION

The International Finance Section publishes at irregular intervals papers in three series: ESSAYS IN INTERNATIONAL FINANCE, PRINCETON STUDIES IN INTERNATIONAL FINANCE, and SPECIAL PAPERS IN INTERNA-TIONAL ECONOMICS. All three of these may be ordered directly from the Section.

Single copies of the ESSAVS are distributed without charge to all interested persons, both here and abroad. Additional copies of any one issue may be obtained from the Section at a charge of \$0.25 a copy, payable in advance. This charge may be waived to foreign institutions of education or research.

For the STUDIES and SPECIAL PAPERS there will be a charge of \$1.00 a copy. This charge will be waived on single copies requested by persons residing abroad and on copies distributed to college and university libraries here and abroad.

Standing requests to receive new ESSAYS as they are issued and notices of the publication of new STUDIES and SPECIAL PAPERS will be honored. Because of frequent changes of address and the resulting waste, students will not be placed on the permanent mailing list.

Only the following issues of the three series are now available.

#### SPECIAL PAPERS IN INTERNATIONAL ECONOMICS

A Survey of International Trade Theory. By Gottfried Haberler. (Revised edition, July 1961)

## PRINCETON STUDIES IN INTERNATIONAL FINANCE

The First Three Years of the Schuman Plan. By Derek Curtis Bok. (December 1955)

#### ESSAYS IN INTERNATIONAL FINANCE

- The International Bank for Reconstruction and Development. By Alec Cairneross. (March 1959)
- The Dollar Problem: A Reappraisal. By Sir Donald MacDougall. (November 1960)

The International Monetary Fund: Its Present Role and Future Prospects. By Brian Tew. (March 1961)





RAWN

OF FLORIDA LIBROLDI

K 3

Withdrawn from UF. Surveyed to Internet Archive

HSSL

# **KEEP CARD IN POCKET**



